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Introduction: King to Prince Streets 
This chapter focuses on the waterfront area between King Street on the north, Prince Street on the 

south, and Union Street on the west (Image 1). To establish the original ownership of the made land, 

early town lots situated west of Union Street are discussed. The eastern boundary of the parcels 

changed over time. 

On this waterfront block, between Prince and King Streets, lot owners constructed wharves, piers and 

docks to better access the Potomac River and engage in the wider world of trade. Once built, this 

infrastructure supported a growing merchant and retail community composed of a wide range of 

professions, skills and interests. The construction of a commercial brewery displayed an interest in 

exporting goods made in the town. This block exemplifies the importance of generational wealth, and 

includes examples of how landowners deployed assets, including enslaved people, to safeguard their 

real estate during lean economic times. The modern 100 block of South Union Street, bounded by King 

Street on the north and Prince Street on the south, was constructed through the banked-out portions of 

original town Lots 51 and 56. 

This block is in the southernmost third of the Study Area (Appendix B, Image 3).   
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Image 1. Modern street map showing the King, Union, Prince Street block overlaid with study parcels. 
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Colonial and Early National Period, 1749-1799 

Lot 51 
The modern 100 block of South Union Street rests entirely on made land that was banked out from 

original town lots 51 and 56 (Image 2). In fact, even the northern portion of the 100 block of Water 

Street (modern Lee Street) was built on made land. Lot 51 fronted on the mud flats that extended nearly 

450 feet to the shipping channel of the Potomac River. It included a high bank that traced the edge of 

the crescent-shaped flats. At the first offering of parcels in 1749, Lot 51 sold to Lawrence Washington, 

elder half-brother of George Washington.1 Washington purchased Lot 52 on the same day, paying 31 

pistoles for Lot 51 and 16 pistoles for Lot 52.2 The waterfront markup reflected the belief that those lots 

would garner higher revenues in the future from fees associated with water traffic including wharfage 

and dockage. Augustine Washington Jr., who bid on the lots on behalf of his brother, attributed the 

ƘƛƎƘŜǊ Ŏƻǎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ άwƛǾŜǊ ǎƛŘŜ ƻƴŜǎ ōŜƛƴƎ ǎŜǘǘ ǳǇ ŦƛǊǎǘΣέ i.e. the auctioneer sold off the water lots first.3 

Lawrence Washington served as a town Trustee until his death from tuberculosis in 1752. Lots 51 and 52 

were not included on ǘƘŜ ¢ǊǳǎǘŜŜǎΩ ƭƛǎǘ ƻŦ ǾŀŎŀƴǘ ƭƻǘǎ ƛƴ WǳƴŜ мтрпΣ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ [ŀǿǊŜƴŎŜ 

Washington or his estate executor built a suitable structure(s) on the lots as required by deed.4 

John Patterson purchased Lots 51 and 52 from Lawrence ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ƛƴ мтслΦ5 Patterson was a 

joiner who had completed extensive carpentry and joinery projects at Mount Vernon, such as adding a 

second floor to the original manor house in the summer and fall of 1758.6 His work at Mount Vernon 

extended from 1757-1760 and included supervising enslaved workers. He made repairs to the 

Alexandria courthouse and employed indentured servants and apprentices.7 {ƻƳŜ ƻŦ tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ 

 
1 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ ¢ǊǳǎǘŜŜǎΣέ Wǳƭȅ моΣ мтпфΣ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ Constance K. Ring and Wesley E. Pippenger, 
Alexandria, Virginia Town Lots, 1749-1801. Together with Proceedings of the Board of Trustees, 1749-1780 
(Westminster, Md.: Family Line Publications, 1995), 120; Fairfax County Deed Books (FDB) B1:497, September 20, 
1749.  
2 A pistole was a standard gold coin in this period. The Board of Trustees secretary used pistoles while in the 
recorded deeds the clerk used pounds, shillings, and pence.   
3 vǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ 5ƛŀƴŜ wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΥ ¢ƘŜ 9ŀǊƭȅ IƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ŀƴ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ [ŀƴŘƳŀǊƪΣέ The Alexandria 
Chronicle, 2007, 2. 
4 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ WǳƴŜ муΣ мтрпΣ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ wƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ Pippenger, Town Lots, 132-мооΦ !ǳƎǳǎǘƛƴŜ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴ WǊΦΩǎ 
own lots, 64 and 65, were escheated by the Trustees and sold again at auction.  
5 FDB, D1:693, May 20, 1760. 
6 ά¢ƻ DŜƻǊƎŜ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ WƻƘƴ tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΣ мт WǳƴŜ мтруΣέ Founders Online, National Archives, 
https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Washington/02-05-02-0165. [Original source: The Papers of George 
Washington, Colonial Series, vol. 5, 5 October 1757ς3 September 1758, ed. W. W. Abbot. Charlottesville: University 
Press of Virginia, 1988, pp. 222ς223.]; ά¢ƻ DŜƻǊƎŜ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ WƻƘƴ tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΣ мо !ǳƎǳǎǘ мтруΣέ Founders 
Online, National Archives, https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Washington/02-05-02-0312. [Original 
source: The Papers of George Washington, Colonial Series, vol. 5, 5 October 1757ς3 September 1758, ed. W. W. 
Abbot. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia, 1988, pp. 390ς391.]; ά¢ƻ DŜƻǊƎŜ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ WƻƘƴ 
tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΣ н {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ мтруΣέ Founders Online, National Archives, 
https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Washington/02-05-02-0362. [Original source: The Papers of George 
Washington, Colonial Series, vol. 5, 5 October 1757ς3 September 1758, ed. W. W. Abbot. Charlottesville: University 
Press of Virginia, 1988, pp. 449ς450.]. 
7 The Digital Encyclopedia of George Washington, (Mount Vernon Ladies' Association, 2012)Σ ǎΦǾΦ άWƻƘƴ tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΣέ 
https://www.mountvernon.org/library/digitalhistory/digital-encyclopedia/article/john-patterson/Necciai. See also 
the Museum of Early Southern Decorative ArtsΩ Craftsman Database, 
https://mesda.org/item/craftsman/patterson-john/27655/.  

https://mesda.org/item/craftsman/patterson-john/27655/
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employees included William Page who began a 5-year apprenticeship for house carpentry and joinery in 

1757. John Murphy, an indentured servant, ran away in November 1758 and again in 1760. James 

Jackson ran away from Patterson in 1762, however he remained in his post ǳƴǘƛƭ ŀŦǘŜǊ tŀǘǘŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ  

The business relationship between Patterson, George Washington, and John Carlyle, who procured 

supplies for the courthouse construction project through his firm Carlyle & Dalton, may have facilitated 

the property transfer that occurred in 1760. Patterson and his wife Susanna had at least three children, 

William, Thomas, and Betty and their household included four enslaved women and girls, Lucy, Betty or 

Bet, Pat, and Sall. He prepared a will in October 1765 in anticipation of a trip to Europe, however the 

document does not describe any structures on lots 51 or 52 beyond the boilŜǊǇƭŀǘŜ ǇƘǊŀǎŜ άmessuages 

and tenements.έ8 This indicates that likely a dwelling house with outbuildings existed on the parcel(s) 

along with other tenements, which could include dwelling houses, warehouses, or other structures that 

were rented out. John Patterson survived his European voyage but died in 1768 and his widow Susannah 

sold Lots 51 and 52 a decade later in 1778.9  

Irish immigrants John Fitzgerald and Valentine Peers purchased Lots 51 and 52 after being in business 

together and fighting in the American Revolution. Fitzgerald came to Alexandria in 1769 and is on record 

as having dined with George Washington in 1773.10 Both Fitzgerald and Peers sympathized with and 

joined the revolutionary movement. In a gesture of solidarity, Fitzgerald & Peers donated the profits 

from a public sale of Irish linens to the citizens of Boston in December 1774.11  

John Fitzgerald was appointed an officer in the Fairfax County Independent Company in 1774, then 

made Captain of the 3rd Virginia Regiment of the Continental Army in 1776. He rose to Major and shortly 

thereafter Washington appointed him aide-de-camp while in New York. For two years, Fitzgerald served 

in this capacity through battles at Trenton, Princeton, Brandywine and Germantown until he was 

wounded at the Battle of Monmouth in June 1778.12 He returned to Alexandria, where his business 

partner, Valentine Peers, had already purchased Lots 51 and 52. Fitzgerald married Jane Digges, member 

of a prominent Prince Georges County, Maryland family.  

Peers was born in Lisburn, Ireland (southwest of Belfast) in 1756 and first came to Alexandria in 1774. 

IŜ ŜƴƭƛǎǘŜŘ ƛƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ƳƛƴǳǘŜ ǊŜƎƛƳŜƴǘ in spring 1775 and after many advancements and 

appointments he became a major in the 3rd Virginia Regiment of the Continental Army, serving under 

Brig. Gen. George Weedon. He faced court martial twice, once for disrespectful communication and 

again for failing to follow orders. He was absolved in the first case, but in the second faced reprimand. 

He served in the battles of Brandywine and Germantown then was discharged from the army in 

 
8 John Patterson, Last Will and Testament, August 15, 1768, Fairfax County Will Books (FWB) C1:35. 
9 FDB D4:196, April 25, 1778. 
10 άώ5ƛŀǊȅ ŜƴǘǊȅΥ нс !ǇǊƛƭ мттоϐΣέ Founders Online, National Archives, 
https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Washington/01-03-02-0003-0008-0026. [Original source: The Diaries of 
George Washington, vol. 3, 1 January 1771ς5 November 1781, ed. Donald Jackson. Charlottesville: University Press 
of Virginia, 1978, p. 174.] 
11 wƻōŜǊǘ IΦ IŀǊǊƛǎƻƴΣ ά²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎōǳǊƎΣέ Virginia Gazette, December 29, 1774, GenealogyBank. 
12 The Digital Encyclopedia of George Washington, (Mount Vernon Ladies' Association, 2012ύΣ ǎΦǾΦ άWƻƘƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΣέ 
https://www.mountvernon.org/library/digitalhistory/digital-encyclopedia/article/john-fitzgerald/#15. 
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November 1777 because of his need to attend to business affairs in Alexandria.13 He married Eleanor Orr 

of Loudon County, Virginia, in 1791.   

Unlike other waterfront lots which included a right to extend or bank out into the Potomac River, Lot 51 

did not come with that right due to its eastern edge being a town-owned thoroughfare, Water Street, 

rather than the courses of the river. Fitzgerald and Peers petitioned the Trustees to sell them the 

άǎǳƴƪŜƴ ƎǊƻǳƴŘ to eastward of Water street opposite to Lot number fifty one and adjoining to King 

street on the north side and to Lot fifty six on the south below the Bank & on the east side of Water 

street aforesaid unsold and unoccupied formerly the ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƻŦ tƘƛƭƛǇ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊΦέ14 Parcels 51.1 and 

51.2 in the study area were still under water in 1778 (Image 3). Fitzgerald and Peers purchased these 

lots with the intention to bank out a large area of the waterfront and could only do so with the approval 

of the Common Council. 

In 1781, Fitzgerald and Peers divided their property west of Water Street. After that, they began the 

work to bank out the tidal flats to the east. This project likely occurred in stages with Fitzgerald and 

Peers leasing parcels on the east side of Water Street while they banked out the area east of Union 

Street. CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘŜƴŀƴǘΣ WŜƴŎƪŜǎΣ ²ƛƴǎƻǊ ϧ /ƻΣ ǎƛƎƴŜŘ ŀ ƭŜŀǎŜ in 1786 for the parcel on the 

southeast corner of King and Water.15 The firm included four men: John Jenckes (Jinckes), Olney Winsor 

(Windsor), Joseph Jenckes, and Crawford Jenckes. Olney Winsor traveled to Alexandria from Providence, 

Rhode Island in September 1786 with his business partner, Joseph Jenckes. He wrote, Alexandria 

άŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ŦƭƻǳǊƛǎƘƛƴƎΣ Ƴŀƴȅ ƴŜǿ buildings going up ς Wharves filling out, and other marks of 

profitable business. There are several lotts that we can have to set our store on ς have not yet viewed 

themΧέ16 Five days later, on September тΣ мтус ƘŜ ǿǊƻǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜȅ άƘƛǊŜŘ ŀ ƎƻƻŘ ƭƻǘΣ ŀƴŘ L ƴƻǿ ǎǇŜƴŘ 

my time ώƴƻǿŀϐŘŀȅǎ ƛƴ ƎŜǘǘƛƴƎ ǊŜŀŘȅ ǘƻ ǊŀƛǎŜ ƻǳǊ ǎǘƻǊŜΦέ On October 1, he wrote that the store was in 

άƎƻƻŘ ŦƻǊǿŀǊŘƴŜǎǎέ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ǊŜŀŘȅ ǘƻ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜ /ŀǇǘΦ ²ƘŜŀǘƻƴΩǎ ŎŀǊƎƻ ƛƴ ǘŜƴ ŘŀȅǎΦ Wheaton arrived 

ahead of schedule on October 5 and ōȅ hŎǘƻōŜǊ мт ǘƘŜȅ ƳŀŘŜ άǾŜǊȅ ƎƻƻŘ ǎŀƭŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊƛƎ ώAbsoloniaϐΩǎ 

cargoΧέ Jenckes, Winsor & Co. leased a vacant lot and built a two-story store and dwelling within one 

month.  

 
13 Robert N. Richardson, Valentine Peers (Richardson, 1976), 6-10. 
14 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ мтΣ мттуΣ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ wƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ Pippenger, Town Lots, 172-173. Fitzgerald and Peers 
paid £100 for the sunken ground. Lot 26 was similarly situated, and the owners of that lot received a 99-year lease 
ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊǳǎǘŜŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳƴŘ Ŝŀǎǘ ƻŦ ²ŀǘŜǊ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎƛƴƎ ƛƴ мтсуΦ ¢ƘŜ ¢ǊǳǎǘŜŜǎΩ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜƛƴƎ 
άŜǾǊΩȅ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜǊ ƻŦ wƛǾŜǊ ǎƛŘŜ [ƻǘǘǎΧǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘ ƻŦ ŜȄǘŜƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƛŘ [ƻǘǘǎ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ wƛǾŜǊ ŀǎ ŦŀǊ ŀǎ ǘƘŜȅ 
shall think proper ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ŀƴȅ ƻōǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ²ŀǘŜǊ ǎǘǊŜŜǘέ ǎŜŜƳǎ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻǘ ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ǘƻ [ƻǘǎ 
26 and 51 since their eastern boundaries were fixed partially on existing land. {ŜŜ άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ September 1, 
1760 and December 1, 1766, quoted in Ring and Pippenger, Town Lots, 139-140, 154.   
15 Hustings Deed Books (Alex.) 5ΥннтΣ hŎǘƻōŜǊ рΣ мтусΦ ¢ƘŜ ƭŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ άǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦ ƳŀŘŜ ōȅ WƻƘƴ 
Fitzgerald.έ 
16 ά¢ǊŀǾŜƭŜǊΩǎ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ²ŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘέ ό!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΥ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎȅΣ нллфύΣ 
Alexandria Archaeology, https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/oha/info/travelersaccountshistoricalexandriawaterfront.pdf, 24. 

https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/oha/info/travelersaccountshistoricalexandriawaterfront.pdf
https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/oha/info/travelersaccountshistoricalexandriawaterfront.pdf
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Winsor described the two-story frame house they built on the lot with a store on the first floor and four 

rooms on the second. Winsor and John Jenckes began to live in the house by December 1786 and 

expected to stay there through the winter along with their hired boy who cooked for them.17 

Jenckes, Winsor & Co. offered European goods, chocolate, coffee, furs, American nails, spirits and a 

luxury phaeton for sale at the foot of King Street.18 This location suggests that King Street in 1787 did not 

yet reach Union Street. They remained in business here until 1795. 

Winsor observed an interment on the waterfront that diminished his otherwise positive review of 

!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ ǇƻǇǳƭŀŎŜΦ ά[ŀǎǘ ŀǳǘǳƳƴ a Negro woman drowned in the harbor, supposed by design ς a 

few days after she was taken up and laid on the shore in the most public part of the town, where she lay 

until she became very offensive, when some Negroes that were filling a Wharf nearby, was ordered to 

put her into the wharf and cover her up, which humane deed they performed. What absurdities will not 

habit and custom palm on mankind! These spectacles of disrespect to unanimated human clay, strike a 

damp on the humane, that have accustomed ǘƻ ǎŜŜ ƛǘ ǘǊŜŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǎŀŎǊŜŘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘΦέ19 Based on the date 

of the letter, the wharf in question would have been under construction in the fall of 1786, and could 

have been this wharf on Parcel 51.1. 

Meanwhile, Fitzgerald was occupied with importing European goods including olives, wine, and Irish 

linen and trafficking in humans. In 1784, he ƎŀǾŜ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ ƻŦ άŀōƻǳǘ three hundred healthy Redemptioners 

ŀƴŘ ŦƻǳǊ ȅŜŀǊǎ ǎŜǊǾŀƴǘǎέ ŦǊƻƳ /ƻǊƪΣ LǊŜƭŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘǊŀŘŜǎƳŜƴ ŀƴŘ άŀ ŦŜǿ ǿƻƳŜƴΦέ20 He accepted 

tobacco, wheat, flour, and flaxseed as payment. Fitzgerald was elected to the Common Council in 1785 

and remained active in local politics and militia leadership through the end of that decade.21  

Valentine Peers partnered with his brother Nicholas Peers to open a general retail store in Colchester, 

Virginia.22 In May 1787, Peers offered for sale lots on King, Water, and Union Streets, suggesting that 

their wharf was built to Union Street by that time.23 It seems there was not much interest, as he offered 

the same lots for sale on ground rent at auction in November. Peers wanted to go to Europe and likely 

needed the sale of the lots to finance his trip/move.24 There are no extant deeds or indentures that 

indicate Peers successfully leased or sold any of these parcels until after 1791.25 He continued to 

 
17 ¢Φ aƛŎƘŀŜƭ aƛƭƭŜǊΣ ά²ŀƴŘŜǊƛƴƎ !ƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ²ŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘΥ YƛƴƎ ǘƻ tǊƛƴŎŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣέ The Fireside Sentinel, August 1991, 
3. 
18 WŜƴŎƪŜǎΣ ²ƛƴǎƻǊ ϧ /ƻΣ ά¢ƻ .Ŝ {ƻƭŘ .ȅΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, April 19, 1787; Jenckes, 
²ƛƴǎƻǊ ϧ /ƻΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣ .ȅΣέ Virginia Gazette and Alexandria Advertiser, November 19, 1789, GenealogyBank. 
19 ά¢ǊŀǾŜƭŜǊΩǎ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘǎΣέ нфΦ 
20 WƻƘƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΣ άWǳǎǘ !ǊǊƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ {ƘƛǇ !bD9[L/!Σέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, August 5, 1784, 
GenealogyBank. RedemǇǘƛƻƴŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ άŦƻǳǊ ȅŜŀǊǎ ǎŜǊǾŀƴǘǎέ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴǘ ǘȅǇŜǎ ƻŦ ƛƴŘŜƴǘǳǊŜŘ ǎŜǊǾŀƴǘǎΦ 
Redemptioners would negotiate or accept their term of labor or servitude upon arrival in Virginia, whereas four 
years servants were already contracted, or indentured, for a set term of work.  
21 ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ мтΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, February 17, 178рΤ WƻƘƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΣ ά¢ƘŜ 
aL[L¢L! ƻŦ CŀƛǊŦŀȄ /ƻǳƴǘȅΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, June 14, 1787, GenealogyBank. 
22 ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ tŜŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ bƛŎƘƻƭŀǎ tŜŜǊǎΣ άbƛŎƘƻƭŀǎ ŀƴŘ ±ŀƭΦ tŜŜǊǎΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, June 
10, 1784, GenealogyBank. 
23 ±Φ tŜŜǊǎΣ ά[h¢{ ŦƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, May 3, 1787, GenealogyBank. 
24 ±ŀƭΦ tŜŜǊǎΣ ά[ƻǘǎ ǘƻ .Ŝ [ŜǘΦΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, October 4, 1787, GenealogyBank. 
25 Peers sold a parcel on King Street to William Triplett in 1791. See FDB T1:373, September 12, 1791. 
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advertise άǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ ǾŀƭǳŀōƭŜ ƭƻǘǎέ ƻƴ YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ мтфсΦ26 In 1799, the City Council observed 

stagnant water in lots owned by Fitzgerald and Peers on this block.27 

Parcels 51.1 and 51.2 
Fitzgerald & Peers did not extend the wharf past Union Street until 1789, when a partition shows the 

extent of the ground that was added since 1781 (Image 4).28 The document shows how the land was 

divided between them and describes how the waterfront was to be preserved and used: 

 άΧVal Peers to the said John Fitzgerald his heirs and assigns the entire and sole right and property in and 

to the front on and water of the said river from a parallel line with King Street fifty feet south for the 

purpose of building a pier into the said river and from the south side of said Pier thirty feet being to the 

centre (sic) of a Dock of sixty feet wide to be forever kept open and unimproved by the said John 

Fitzgerald his heirs and assigns, and the said John Fitzgerald to the said Val Peers doth forever fully 

release and confirm all the remaining portion of the said Dock being thirty feet from the said Centre be 

also forever kept open and unimproved by the said Val Peers his Heirs and Assigns together with the 

intire (sic) remaining front & water from the north side of the said Dock for the purpose of building a pier 

into the said river to the Lott of Andrew WalesΧέ 

Parcel 51.1: CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мтуф-1801 

CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ƻŦ YƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘǎ ǿŀǎ Ǉǳǘ ƛƴǘƻ ǳǎŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƻǿƴŜǊ ŀƴŘ 

several tenants. Tax records for 1790 show that Fitzgerald had tenants on Fairfax Street and King 

Street.29 In 1795, he had tenants on Fairfax, Union and Water Streets.30 On the southeast corner of King 

and Union, he built three connected warehouses on stone foundations with brick walls and a shared 

loft/roof  by 1796.31 This building still stands at 100-104 South Union Street.32 Daniel McDougall, 

sailmaker, ƳƻǾŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŦǘ ƻŦ /ƻƭΦ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ in February 1798 and would stay there until 

 
26 ±ŀƭΦ tŜŜǊǎΣ ά[ƻǘǎ ŦƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Columbian Mirror and Alexandria Gazette, March 12, 1796, GenealogyBank. 
27 IŜƴǊȅ aƻƻǊŜΣ άLƴ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΣ ммǘƘ aŀȅ мтффΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, May 14, 1799, 
GenealogyBank. 
28 FDB Y1:85, July 10, 1789. 
29 William Wilson rented two properties from Fitzgerald on Fairfax Street, Nicholson & Co. rented on Fairfax St, and 
Conway rented on King. 1790 Land Tax Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 4.  
30 Tenants on Fairfax included Carne & Slade, John Morris and Mary Fulford. Ketcham & Co. rented a property on 
Union Street. Jacob Rentzell was the tenant on Water Street. The Union Street property likely referred to a parcel 
at the corner of Union and Wolfe, not this parcel on King and Union. 1795 Land Book, on file at Alexandria 
Archaeology, 9-10.  
31 wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ 4-6. Riker uses tax assessments to estimate the construction date of the 
warehouse. The building still stands in 2023 at the southeast corner of King and Union Streets. The loft and roof 
description is from an 1801 advertisement quoted by Riker.  
32 !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎȅΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ²ŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘ IƛǎǘƻǊȅ tƭŀƴΥ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ŀ [ƛǾƛƴƎ IƛǎǘƻǊȅέ ό!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΥ 
Office of Historic Alexandria, 2010), Alexandria Archaeology, https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/planning/info/waterfront/aacwaterfronthistoryplan.pdf, 77; storic American Buildings Survey, Creator, 
John Patterson, Dick Sutton, Archie A Biggs, Neal W Sparks, William Woodville, and H. R. J Thompson, Brostrup, 
John O, and Victor Amato, photographer. Patterson-Fitzgerald Warehouse, 101-105 South Union Street, 
Alexandria, Alexandria Independent City, VA. Alexandria Virginia Independent City, 1933. Documentation Compiled 
After. Photograph. https://www.loc.gov/item/va0169/. 

https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/planning/info/waterfront/aacwaterfronthistoryplan.pdf
https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/planning/info/waterfront/aacwaterfronthistoryplan.pdf
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at least 1804.33 In March 1798, Samuel W. Brown sold peas by the bushel ŦǊƻƳ Ƙƛǎ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ 

Wharf.34 Fitzgerald was appointed Collector of Customs for the Port of Alexandria in 1793 and his 

deputy, Vincent Gray, abused his trust by defrauding the government of revenue. The wharf and pier 

were used as security for this position in 1799.35 After several years of suffering with a άǾƛƻƭŜƴǘ 

ǊƘŜǳƳŀǘƛŎ ŎƻƳǇƭŀƛƴǘΣέ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ мтфф ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ǳǎǘƻƳǎ office was $57,000 in debt to the United 

States government due to the dishonest actions of Vincent Gray.36 Due to the bond, this property was 

ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǎŜƛȊǳǊŜ ŀƴŘ ǎŀƭŜ ǘƻ ǊŜǇŀȅ ǘƘŜ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘΩǎ ƭƻǎǎŜǎΦ  

The wharf and warehouses were managed by the estate executor in the ȅŜŀǊǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ 

death and their sale. John and James H. Tucker moved their store here in 1800 from Fairfax Street. They 

sold salt, wines, textiles, teas, tools, and a general assortment of goods.37 An erosion problem in 1800 

caused Ephraim Mills to haul loads of earth to support the corner of the brick warehouse.38 In 1801, the 

property was for sale at public auction:  

commonly called CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ ƭȅƛƴƎ ǳǇƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ 

of Union street; on this piece of ground are erected, three BRICK WAREHOUSES, each 24 feet 4 

inches in front, 40 feet deep, 3 stories high; to each of which is a piece of unimproved ground 

from forty to fifty feet in depth, terminating on a 30 foot Ally (sic), laid off upon the front of the 

wharf; one of the warehouses fronts upon King and Union streets, another upon Union street, 

and a 30 foot Ally, extending from Union street to the front of the wharf, the other has a front 

upon Union street only; from the front of the wharf, a PIER is extended into the river, 100 feet in 

length and 60 feet in breadth; there is appertaining to the PIER on one side a DOCK 33 feet wide, 

on the other a DOCK about 28 feet wide; these several pieces of property will be set up 

separately.39 

Parcel 51.2 
Peers, living in Port Tobacco, Maryland in 1789, was ready to sell his interests in Alexandria. He offered 

lots on King and Union Streets in 1791 ǿƛǘƘ άǾŜǊȅ ƎǊŜŀǘ advantages in point of situation, being in the 

center of Town, and contiguous with the RiverΦέ40 A year later, he advertised his 66Ω Ȅ ммлΩ water lot 

 
33 wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ рΦ aŎ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭ ǿŀǎ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŦǘ ƻŦ the warehouse occupied 
ōȅ aŎLǾŜǊ ŀƴŘ aŎYŜƴȊƛŜ ƻƴ wƛŎƘŀǊŘ !ǊŜƭƭΩǎ ǿƘŀǊŦ (southeast corner of Union and Prince). 5ŀƴƛŜƭ aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣ 
ά5ŀƴƛŜƭ aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣ {ŀƛƭ-aŀƪŜǊΣέ Columbian Mirror and Alexandria Gazette, April 10, 1793, GenealogyBank. Daniel 
aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣ ά5ŀƴƛŜƭ aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, July 30, 1804, GenealogyBank. 
34 wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ рΦ  
35 Alex. M:40, January 16, 1799. It was common practice for individuals who served in similar positions to be 
covered by a bond from another individual. It was a method for insuring that the public was protected from 
nefarious acts, however in this case the bond amount ($10,000) was far less than the apparent damages (over 
$50,000).  
36 wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ 7. 
37 WƻƘƴ ¢ǳŎƪŜǊ ŀƴŘ WŀƳŜǎ IΦ ¢ǳŎƪŜǊΣ άWƻƘƴ ϧ W I ¢ǳŎƪŜǊΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, December 15, 1800, 
GenealogyBankΤ WƻƘƴ ¢ǳŎƪŜǊ ŀƴŘ WŀƳŜǎ IΦ ¢ǳŎƪŜǊΣ άWƻƘƴ ϧ W I ¢ǳŎƪŜǊΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, March 3, 1801, 
GenealogyBank. 
38 Estate of John Fitzgerald Account Statement, April 19, 1802, FWB I1:111. 
39 ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ !Φ 5ƛƎƎǎ ŀƴŘ WŀƳŜǎ YŜƛǘƘΣ ά!ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜƳŜƴǘΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, April 27, 
1801, GenealogyBank.  
40 ±ŀƭΦ tŜŜǊǎΣ ά±ŀƭǳŀōƭŜ [ƻǘǎ ǘƻ .Ŝ 5ƛǎǇƻǎŜŘ hŦΦΣέ Virginia Gazette and Alexandria Advertiser, September 1, 1791, 
GenealogyBank. Peers is not listed as a property owner in the 1790 Land Tax book. 
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άǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛǾƛƭŜƎŜ ƻŦ ǿƘŀǊŦƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƴƴŜƭΦέ41 When Peers sold his wharf parcel to Philip Richard 

Fendall ƛƴ мтфоΣ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŜŘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ǘƘŜ άǊƛƎƘǘ ǘƻ ŜȄǘŜƴŘ ŀ ǇƛŜǊέ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŦǊƻƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦΦ42 Fendall was 

taxed in 1795 for parcels on Washington and Oronoco Streets. The έǊƛƎƘǘ ǘƻ ŜȄǘŜƴŘ ŀ ǇƛŜǊέ appeared in 

the 1796 deeds from Fendall to Alexander Smith and then to Jonathan Swift.43 5ǳǊƛƴƎ {ƳƛǘƘΩǎ ǎƘƻǊǘ ǘŜǊƳ 

of ownership, he insured a three-story brick warehouse fronting 67 feet on Union and extending back 33 

feet.44 A sail loft, which spanned a two-story wooden warehouse and the top floor of the brick 

warehouse, was offered for rent in January 1798 (Image 6). Swift and Fitzgerald extended the wharf in 

front of their lots in 1798 by thirty feet (Image 5). Though William Yeaton managed the construction of 

the wharf, Swift placed a wanted ad for wharf logs in January 1798 (Image 6).45 Swift built a pier off the 

front of this wharf by 1800.46 

Lot 56 
This lot was laid out as a wedge-shaped parcel on the east side of Water Street and the north side of 

Prince Street (Image 2). It was one of the smallest original lots offered in 1749 and William Fairfax won 

with a bid of £18 16s 3d.47 Fairfax also purchased Lot 57, located on the opposite side of Water Street 

from Lot 56.48 In 1753, George William Fairfax purchased Lots 56 and 57 from the Town Trustees, 

suggesting that William Fairfax released his claim to the parcels.49 In 1766, George William Fairfax 

successfully petitioned the Trustees to combine Lots 56 and 57 so that they required only the 

 
41 ±ŀƭŜƴǘƛƴŜ tŜŜǊǎΣ ά! CŀǊƳ ²ŀƴǘŜŘΣέ Virginia Gazette and Alexandria Advertiser, September 13, 1792, 
GenealogyBank. 
42 FDB W1:253, July 5, 1793. Philip Richard Fendall (1734-1805) married Mary Lee in 1791 (this was his third wife). 
He sold the property presumably to raise money to cover some of his debts. Unfortunately, it was not enough, and 
he declared insolvency. His real estate holdings were vast and included stone quarries, a mill seat with a brewery, 
and tens of thousands of acres in Kentucky. Arlington County (Va.) Chancery Causes (Arlington Chancery), 1790-
1927. Robert Young & Co. vs. Baldwin Dade, 1805-009. Local Government Records Collection, Arlington County 
Court Records. The Library of Virginia, Richmond, Virginia. Fendall and his neighbor to the south, Andrew Wales, 
agreed to preserve a 12-foot alley between their lots that extended from Union to the river. Alex. E:229, August 2, 
1793. 
43 Alex. H:64, January 2, 1796; Alex. H:107, October 4, 1796. 
44 Mutual Assurance Society Policy (MAP) No. 87, June 11, 1796, Mutual Assurance Society Papers, Library of 
Virginia, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
45 Arlington Chancery, Deposition of William Yeaton, George O. Dixion ETC v William H. Irwin, 1850-003.  
46 Alex. O:219, November 10, 1800. 
47 FDB C1:299, March 28, 1752. 
48 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ Wǳƭȅ моΣ мтпфΣ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ wƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ Pippenger, Town Lots, 120. The price for both parcels was 35 
pistoles. The ǘǊŀƴǎŎǊƛǇǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ tƘƛƭƛǇ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ ǎƘƻǿ ǘƘŀǘ William Fairfax paid £37 12s 6d to 
Carlyle & Dalton for Lots 56 and 57. See άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ Account of Sales, July 13, 1749, quoted in Ring and 
Pippenger, Town Lots, 145-146.  
49 No deed was recorded for Lot 56 with the first wave of purchasers on September 21, 1749. ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ CŀƛǊŦŀȄΩǎ 
deed was recorded on March 28, 1752 (FDB C1:299) with no corresponding order to record deeds in the existing 
Proceedings. It is not clear why George William Fairfax purchased Lots 56 and 57 from the Trustees instead of from 
his father, William Fairfax.   
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improvement of one lot rather than two.50 Fairfax sold Lots 56, 57 and 58 to Robert Adam in 1772 and it 

is unknown what, if any, improvements he made to the parcels before the sale.51  

Parcels 56.1 and 56.2 
Robert Adam (sometimes Adams) was a merchant in Alexandria who became a Trustee, filling the late 

²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ CŀƛǊŦŀȄΩǎ ǎŜŀǘ.52 Adam immediately divided the Lots 56, 57 and 58 in half, selling the north side 

to Andrew Wales and the south side, along Prince Street, to John Hough.53  Andrew Wales was 

!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ brewer and carried on the trade from 1770-1798. Wales was born in Scotland and 

immigrated to ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ ōŜŦƻǊŜ мтсрΣ ǿƘŜƴ ƘŜ ǿƻǊƪŜŘ ŀǘ WƻƘƴ aŜǊŎŜǊΩǎ Marlborough brewery in Stafford 

County, Virginia. Wales was a Brewer in Scotland and was hired by Mercer at the recommendation of 

Phillip Ludwell Lee. Mercer believed he could make money selling beer in the colonies and invested 

heavily in the endeavor including purchasing 40 enslaved people to raise barley and hiring a brew 

master to oversee the operation. The endeavor was overall a failureΥ aŜǊŎŜǊΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ōŀǘŎƘ ǿŀǎ ŀ ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜ 

ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎƘƻǊǘŎƻƳƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ōǊŜǿ ƳŀǎǘŜǊ ǿƘƛƭŜ ²ŀƭŜǎΩ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ōŀǘŎƘ ǇǊƻǾŜŘ ƻǳǘΦ Wales was 

promoted to brew master but the next yearΩǎ effort failed due to a bad barley harvest. Ultimately, Wales 

taught himself to be a competent brew master, but the effort to grow barley locally was challenging and 

left Mercer with more expenses than income. ²ŀƭŜǎ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘ ǘƻ ōǊŜǿ ŀǘ aŀǊƭōƻǊƻǳƎƘ ǳƴǘƛƭ aŜǊŎŜǊΩǎ 

death, when he and his wife Margaret settled on Alexandria as an opportune location.54 

Wales initially rented space in the Town Warehouse at Point Lumley starting in late 1769 or early 1770. 

Wales may have operated his brewery here, though there is no direct evidence of what activity he 

undertook in the Town Warehouse. He invested in human capital, first an indentured servant, Michael 

Tracey, who worked as a bricklayer and ran away in July 1770. Then, Wales took on an apprentice 

brewer, a 7-year-old named John Parker. Assuming Tracey and Parker worked their full terms, the 

profits from their labor went to Wales. He used this income along with sales of beer to purchase part of 

Lots 56, 57 and 58 in 1771. However, Wales experienced a money flow problem after this, where he fell 

ōŜƘƛƴŘ ƻƴ Ƙƛǎ ǊŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ¢ƻǿƴ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƛƴ мттм ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ¢ǊǳǎǘŜŜǎ ƻǊŘŜǊŜŘ άŘƛǎǘǊŜǎǎ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ǳǇƻƴ 

 
50 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ December 16, 1766, quoted in Ring and Pippenger, Town Lots, 153-154; FDB G1:116, January 30, 
1767. 
51 FDB K1:124, September 23, 1772. Robert Adam had already recorded several deeds related to these lots before 
the date of this indenture. It is possible that the clerk wrote 1772 instead of 1771, however the date appears twice 
in the document as 1772. If the date is correct, it is possible that Adam and Fairfax had a verbal agreement to 
transfer the property and Adam began to file his own transfers before Fairfax had the opportunity to make it 
official. Robert Adam was a Trustee from 1758-1780, when the city governance converted from an appointee 
structure to an elected mayor and council structure. George William Fairfax was ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƻǊΩǎ 
Council in 1767 and served until 1772. His last recorded presence at an Alexandria Trustee meeting was in 
December 1766, when the Trustees took up the question of whether his Lots 56 and 57 should be joined to count 
as one lotΦ {ŜŜ άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ December 16, 1766, quoted in Ring and Pippenger, Town Lots, 154. 
52 άtǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣέ hŎǘƻōŜǊ моΣ мтруΣ ǉǳƻǘŜŘ ƛƴ wƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ Pippenger, Town Lots, 137. William Fairfax died on 
September 3, 1757. 
53 The original deeds for these transactions are missing, however they are referenced in Alex. D:300, July 8, 1791 
and FDB K1:370, June 14, 1773. 
54 DŀǊǊŜǘǘ tŜŎƪΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ CƛǊǎǘ .ǊŜǿŜǊΣέ The Alexandria Chronicle Spring 2015, no. 2 (2015): 1-3. 
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ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘǎ ƻŦ !ƴŘǊŜǿ ²ŀƭŜǎέ ƛƴ мттнΦ It is not recorded how much or what manner of property was 

seized. Wales continued to rent the Town Warehouse until January 1, 1774.55 

At this juncture, Wales sold the southern half of his waterfront parcel to three merchant investors: 

Robert McRae, Robert Mease, and Matthew Mease.56 Their portion was ŀ осΩ ǿƛŘŜ ǎǘǊƛǇ ǘƘŀǘ ŎǊƻǎǎŜŘ 

Lots 57 and 58, and a half part of WaleǎΩ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ƻƴ [ƻǘ рс όǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ōŜ Ŝǉǳŀƭ ǘƻ one fourth part of Lot 57). 

The eastern boundary was άǿƛǘƘ ŀ ǎǘǊŀƛƎƘǘ ƭƛƴŜ Řƻǿƴ tƻǘƻƳŀŎƪ wƛǾŜǊ, at right angles till it intersects a 

ǎǘǊŀƛƎƘǘ ƭƛƴŜ ŘǊŀǿƴ ŀǘ ǊƛƎƘǘ ŀƴƎƭŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƛŘ ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻƴ ²ŀǘŜǊ {ǘǊŜŜǘΦέ The indenture also reserved 

alleys between this new subdivision: a 9Ω ŀƭƭŜȅ ŦǊƻƳ ²ŀǘŜǊ ǘƻ CŀƛǊŦŀx Street and a 12Ω alley on Lot 56 

άŀƴŘ ƻǾŜǊ ŀƭƭ ǿƘŀǊffs [sic], ways, and platformsΦέ ¢Ƙƛǎ ŎƻƴǾŜȅŀƴŎŜ shows that Wales had already partially 

extended Lot 56 to create an eastern edge at a right angle to Prince Street. Union Street is not a 

reference point in the document, and likely was not built out or paved for several years after this 

transfer. Finally, there is no evidence for any buildings or improvements on this part of Lot 56 in the 

deed other than the wharf and platform. 

²ŀƭŜǎΩ .ǊŜǿŜǊȅΣ мттп-1802 

Wales built his 1774 brewery along the west side of Water Street in a parcel on Lot 57. He built 

numerous structures across the parcels creating a complex with buildings of stone, brick, and wood 

frame: brewery, distillery, retail store, warehouse(s) for beer and grain, a tavern, and possibly an owner-

occupied dwelling house.57 From May 1777 through approximately 1781 Wales did not reside in 

Alexandria. He was accused, tried, and acquitted of treason charges related to a conspiracy surrounding 

a group of Tories who escaped from the Alexandria gaol (jail) in April 1777. His acquittal was seen as a 

technicality, however, because the witness against him, Thomas Davis, was not allowed to testify due to 

an earlier conviction. Wales was not welcomed back to Alexandria and relocated to Bladensburg, 

Maryland, where he traded goods and supported the loyalist cause. His property in Alexandria was not 

seized, however, due to having taken a loyalty oath to the rebels. In December 1780 in Bladensburg, 

Wales was the target of a riotous mob who, incensed with high prices, threatened to tar and feather 

him. The county magistrate put him under protection.58 Wales returned to Alexandria around 1781 and 

continued brewing, trading, and collecting rents and wharfage fees from his properties. 

Wales may have banked out his portion of Lot 56 east of Union Street while Peers and Fitzgerald 

extended their lot, which was adjacent to the north. The brewery burned down in January 1788 and 

Wales rebuilt on the banked-out portion of Lot 56 on the west side of Union Street. Wales banked out 

the wharf east of Union Street sometime between 1782 and 1796, when he sold one section (Parcel 56.1 

of this study) to Jesse Simms. The deed describes,  

part of the ƎǊƻǳƴŘ ŀƴŘ ǿƘŀǊŦ ƳŀŘŜ ŀƴŘ ŜȄǘŜƴŘŜŘ ōȅΧ!ƴŘǊŜǿ ²ŀƭŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ wƛǾŜǊ 

tƻǘƻƳŀŎƪΧǎŀǾƛƴƎ ǳƴǘƻΧ²ŀƭŜǎΧǘƘŜ ǊƛƎƘǘ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƛǾƛƭŜƎŜ ŀǘ ƘƛǎΧŜȄǇŜƴǎŜ ƻŦ ŜȄǘŜƴŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǘǊǳƴƪǎ 

 
55 tŜŎƪΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ CƛǊǎǘ .ǊŜǿŜǊΣέ о-пΦ ά5ƛǎǘǊŜǎǎέ ƛǎ ǊƻǳƎƘƭȅ ǘƘŜ ŜǉǳƛǾŀƭŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǊŜǇƻǎǎŜǎǎƛƻƴ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ ŎŀǎŜ ǘƘŜ 
corporation seized property that they sold to recover the unpaid rent money.  
56 FDB M1:4, July 28, 1774. Robert McRae and Robert Mease lived in Alexandria, whereas Matthew Mease was in 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  
57 9ȄŎŜǊǇǘ ƻŦ hƭƴŜȅ ²ƛƴǎƻǊΩǎ ƭŜǘǘŜǊǎ ŦǊƻƳ мтуу ŦǊƻƳ ά¢ǊŀǾŜƭŜǊΩǎ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ²ŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘΣέ 
32-33.  
58 tŜŎƪΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ CƛǊǎǘ .ǊŜǿŜǊΣέ у-10. 
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communicating with the River Potomack and the Brew House of the said Andrew Wales, 

ǿƘŀǘŜǾŜǊ ŘƛǎǘŀƴŎŜ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƛŘ WŜǎǎŜ {ƛƳƳǎΧƳŀȅ ŀǘ ŀƴȅ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ Řŀȅ ŜȄǘŜƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦΧ59  

¢ƘŜ άǘǊǳƴƪǎέ were pipes or culverts that facilitated water drainage from the brewery to the river. Wales 

brewed two types of English ales: small beer and strong beer. Small beer had a lower alcohol content 

and milder flavor than strong beer because it was made from reused wort of the first batch of strong 

beer. Brewing was a seasonal activity and so Wales used income from the tavern, rents from other 

properties, and likely some wharfage and dockage income to earn money year-round.60 Wales built a 

storehouse on this parcel by 1785, when Philip Poyer & Co. offered Barbados rum and spirits for sale 

there.61 William Buddicom sold a wide variety of English goods from άaǊΦ !ƴŘǊŜǿ ²ŀƭŜǎΩǎΣ near Captain 

IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦέ in January 1786.62 In 1787, άaǊΦ !ƴŘǊŜǿ ²ŀƭŜǎΩǎ ƴŜǿ ǎǘƻǊŜ-ƘƻǳǎŜ ƴŜŀǊ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦέ 

was the site of a public sale for all BuddicomΩǎ ƎƻƻŘǎ ƻƴ ƘŀƴŘ όImage 7). Wales and his wife Margaret 

advertised their brewery and remaining property for sale in 1797. John Fitzgerald purchased the 

brewery, and it was operated by a few different people until operations ceased in 1802. Margaret Wales 

died in March 1799 and Andrew died in November of that year.63  

Jesse Simms resold the water lot within weeks of purchasing it, for a profit of £100. The purchasers, 

John Crips Vowell and Thomas Vowell Jr. would acquire the McRae & Mease partition to the south, 

Parcel 56.2 in this study, and ǊŜƧƻƛƴ ǘƘŜƳ ŀǎ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ Wharf (see below). 

McRae & Mease, 1774-1798 

aŎwŀŜ ϧ aŜŀǎŜ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ƘŀƭŦ ƻŦ ²ŀƭŜǎΩ ǿŀǘŜǊ ƭƻǘ ƛƴ 1774 as a speculative investment.64 They invested 

£350 in 1774 for parts of Lots 56, 57 and 58 including a wharf and platform. Matthew Mease sold his 

third part share in August 1781 back to the other partners when they repaid his initial investment plus 

ten shillings.65  

aŎwŀŜ ϧ aŜŀǎŜΩǎ ǘŀȄ ǊŜŎƻǊŘǎ ǎƘƻǿ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ ǘŜƴŀƴǘǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘ ƭƻǘΦ66 In 1787, Colin McIver paid 

£37 10s annual rent. Colin McIver (active 1785-1787) was a retail merchant who sold a wide range of 

goods including looking glasses, rum, tea, iron goods and textiles. He moved to King Street.67 In 1788-

1790, John McIver paid 50, 30 and then £40 rent. Lǘ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜƭȅ ƻōǾƛƻǳǎ ǿƘȅ aŎLǾŜǊΩǎ ǊŜƴǘ 

fluctuated from year to year. In a November 1790 ad, McIver ŀƴƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ άǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ Ƙŀǎ ŘŜŎƭƛƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǘŀƛƭ 

of Dry Goods in King-Street, and means, in future, to prosecute the LUMBER and WEST-INDIA BUSINESS, 

 
59 Alex. G:493, August 24, 1796. 
60 tŜŎƪΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ CƛǊǎǘ .ǊŜǿŜǊΣέ сΦ 
61 tƘƛƭƛǇ tƻȅŜǊΣ άWǳǎǘ LƳǇƻǊǘŜŘΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, September 22, 1785, GenealogyBank. 
62 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ .ǳŘŘƛŎƻƳΣ ά²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ .ǳŘŘƛŎƻƳΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, January 12, 1786, 
GenealogyBank. 
63 tŜŎƪΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ CƛǊǎǘ .ǊŜǿŜǊΣέ мн-13. For more on Fitzgerald, see above.  
64 FDB M1:4, July 28, 1774. McRae & Mease leased a lot on Point West in March 1774 for a 63-year term. Robert 
!ŘŀƳ ǘƻƻƪ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƭŜŀǎŜ ƛƴ мтулΦ {ŜŜ 5ŀǾƛŘ /ŀǊǊƻƭƭ ŀƴŘ WƻƘƴ tΦ aǳƭƭŜƴΣ ά5ƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŀǊȅ {ǘǳŘȅΣ рллκрлм bƻǊǘƘ 
¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘ όwƻōƛƴǎƻƴ ¢ŜǊƳƛƴŀƭ bƻǊǘƘύέ ό/ƛǘȅ ƻŦ !ƭexandria, January 2015), 13-15. [this is another report to 
discuss ς not online] 
65 FDB D4:315, August 7, 1781. 
66 1787-1790 Alexandria Land Books, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. McRae & Mease occupied their own parcel 
on Royal Street from 1787-1790, though in 1789 and 1790 Robert Mease was omitted from the listing.  
67 T. Michael Miller, Artisans and Merchants of Alexandria, Virginia, 1780-1820Σ ǎΦǾΦ άaacIver, ColinΣέ ό.ƻǿƛŜΣ aŘΥ 
Heritage Books, 1991). 
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ŀǘ Ƙƛǎ ƻƭŘ ǎǘŀƴŘΣ ƻƴ aŎ/ǊŜŀ ŀƴŘ aŜŀǎŜΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΧέ (Image 8).68 He sold all manner of liquors and spirits, 

teas and spices.  

Robert McRae moved to Georgia in 1791, giving his partner Robert Mease power of attorney for his 

affairs.69 George Coryell operated a lumber yard, or board yard, from aǊΦ aŜŀǎŜΩǎ wharf in 1793 (Image 

9). Coryell was a joiner who became a successful merchant (see report on Duke to Prince Street for 

more).  In 1795, Robert Allison was the tenant, paying £60 per year.70 Allison was a dry goods retailer 

operating from a store front on King Street since at least 1784.71 

Matthew Franklin Bowne and Theodore James Hamilton signed a three-year lease for the parcel to 

begin on May 1, 1795.72 The parcel fronted 44Ω м ҁέ ƻƴ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŀƴŘ ǿŜƴǘ into the River. The lease 

does not mention any structures on the parcel, but an insurance policy for a nearby building noted 

wƻōŜǊǘ aŜŀǎŜΩǎ ǿƻƻŘŜƴ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ here in 1796.73 Matthew Franklin Bowne & Co. notified the public 

that their public auction house was in άa large and convenient Warehouse, in Union-Street, adjoining 

Harper's WharfΧέ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŀŘȅ ŦƻǊ ŎƻƴǎƛƎƴƳŜƴǘǎ on April 30, 1795 (Image 10). 

McRae & Mease sold the waterfront parcel March 2, 1798 to John Crips Vowell and Thomas Vowell, Jr.74 

The Vowells combined this parcel with the one adjacent to the north, Parcel 51.1 in this study, and 

ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ όǎŜŜ ōŜƭƻǿύΦ  

Parcels 56.3 and 56.4 
John Hough purchased the south half of Lots 56, 57 and 58 in December 1771. He lived in Loudoun 

County, Virginia, and likely saw the potential for a profitable investment in the developing town. 18 

months later, he further divided his half of Lot 56 into two parcels: George Gilpin bought the north half 

and John Harper bought the south half which bordered on the north side of Prince Street.75 Gilpin was 

already involved in banking out and improving the wharf on the south side of Prince Street by this time, 

so his motive for buying this small swath of waterfront land is not clear. Within four years he sold this 

 
68 WƻƘƴ aŎLǾŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ {ǳōǎŎǊƛōŜǊ ¢ŀƪŜǎ ¢Ƙƛǎ hǇǇƻǊǘǳƴƛǘȅΣέ Virginia Gazette and Alexandria Advertiser, November 11, 
1790, GenealogyBank. 
69 The power of attorney is referenced in several of the deeds. Dated October 10, 1791. 
70 1795 Alexandria Land Tax Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. Robert Mease is the taxed owner of the Union 
Street lot, but Mease & McRae are listed as the owner of the two lots on Wales Alley on the west side of Union. 
71 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά!ƭƭƛǎƻƴΣ wƻōŜǊǘ.έ 
72 Alex. N:153, April 25, 1795. Bowne and Hamilton leased another property on the south side of King Street (100 
block) in 1795. That parcel had a partially built frame warehouse on it in 1796, which may explain why Bowne and 
Hamilton undertook this lease ς here they found an available, finished warehouse. William M. Gardner, Gwen J. 
IǳǊǎǘΣ ŀƴŘ YƛƳōŜǊƭȅ !Φ {ƴȅŘŜǊΣ άtƘŀǎŜ L-LLL !ǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎƛŎŀƭ LƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǘ мму YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΣέ 
May 2001, 16. https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/historic/info/archaeology/sitereportgardner118kingfitzgeraldwharf.pdf 
73 MAP No. 43, April 23, 1796.  
74 Alex. K:329, March 2, 1798. 
75 FDB K1:368, June 13, 1773; K1:370, June 14, 1773; FDB K1:378, June 13, 1773. WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ŘŜŜŘ ǿŀǎ ŀ ƭŜŀǎŜ 
and release: two indentures with the first being a lease for a term of one year and the second the full title for the 
property. This mode of transfer was more common in the early colonial period as it facilitated land transfers when 
there was a shortage of credit available for potential landowners. The 1-year term was a technicality by this time, 
as the recorded deeds show the release was recorded only one day after the lease in this case.  



20 
 

parcel to Josiah Watson and it is not clear to what degree, if at all, Gilpin banked out or built upon it 

during that time.76  

tŀǊŎŜƭ рсΦоΥ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ 1784-1797 
Josiah Watson was an Irish immigrant established as a merchant in Alexandria by the Revolutionary 

era.77 He was involved in assigning crew and cargo to a privateer, General Washington, that sailed from 

Alexandria to άbŀƴǘȊΣέ most likely the port of Nantes, France, and returned in 1779 with a cargo of 

textiles, French brandy, spices, metal goods and window glass.78 IŀǊǇŜǊ ϧ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǿƘŀǊŦ ǿŀǎ ƛƴ ǳǎŜ ōȅ 

1784, when a public auction of 20,000 Holland bricks and stone ballast took place there.79 The 1787-

1790 Land Books for Alexandria shows that Josiah Watson was the only tenant on this parcel.80 A 

schooner burned ŀǘ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǿƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ June 1788 resulting in the loss of neighboring tenantsΩ fire 

buckets and bags including Olney Winsor (southeast corner of King and Water), James Kennedy, John 

Murray, and Obadiah Bowen.81 In December 1790, Watson formalized an agreement with John Harper, 

ǿƘƻ ƻǿƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ŀƴŘ tǊƛƴŎŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ŀŎŎŜǎǎ ŦǊƻƳ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǘƻ 

Prince Street. That agreement notes that the wharf and pier were built at joint expense.82 The 1796 

insurance policies for ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ wharf lot describe two warehouses fronting on Union Street on this 

parcel: a two-story wood warehouse and a three-story brick warehouse to the south. A second two-

story warehouse adjoined the east side of the wood warehouse. The document describes the wharf 

edge as approximately 100 feet east of Union Street (Image 11, Image 12).  

The 1795 Land Book shows three tenants on ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ parcel: M. F. Bowne & Co. on Union, James Porter 

on Union, and Ricketts & Newton on the wharf.83 Matthew Franklin Bowne & Co. imported goods of all 

types from Europe and the West Indies including manufactured items, alcohol, and foodstuffs. In April 

1795, Bowne and his business partner, Theodore James Hamilton, leased the parcel north of this one 

(see above).84 James Porter worked as a tanner (or, tinner) ŦǊƻƳ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ōǊƛŎƪ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ŦǊƻƳ мтфр ǘƻ 

1803.85 He partnered with Hezekiah Smoot, a tanner and merchant, until 1800.86 Ricketts & Newton 

imported a wide range of goods from all over the world: their office and brick warehouse was at the 

 
76 FDB M1:299, June 16, 1777. 
77 Josiah Watson & Co. sold flour and did other business with George Washington from 1781-1789, see The Papers 
of George Washington Digital Edition, ed. Theodore J. Crackel. Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press, 
Rotunda, 2008,http://financial.gwpapers.org/?q=content/josiah-watson-co. Some genealogists assert that Watson 
was from Philadelphia where he married Jane Taylor in 1771 before moving to Alexandria, see Early Colonial 
Settlers of Southern Maryland and Virginia's Northern Neck Counties, ǎΦǾΦ άWƻǎƛŀƘ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΣέ https://www.colonial-
settlers-md-va.us. 
78 Hooe & Harrisons, Josiah Watson, and William Herbert, Maryland Journal, July 7, 1778; Hooe & Harrisons, Josiah 
²ŀǘǎƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IŜǊōŜǊǘΣ άLƳǇƻǊǘŜŘΣέ Virginia Gazette, July 24, 1779. 
79 /Φ /ƻƻǇŜǊΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ ±ŜƴŘǳŜΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria AdvertiserΣ Wǳƭȅ ннΣ мтупΣ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀΩǎ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ 
Newspapers. 
80 1788-1790 Alexandria City Land Tax Books, on file at Alexandria Archaeology.  
81 Excerpt from the letters of Olney Winsor as published in ά¢ǊŀǾŜƭŜǊΩǎ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 
WaterfrontΣέ нллфΣ ооΦ 
82 Alex. D:320, December 1, 1790. 
83 1795 Alexandria Land Tax Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 34. 
84 Alex. N:153, April 25, 1795. 
85 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άtƻǊǘŜǊΣ WŀƳŜǎΦέ 
86 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά{ƳƻƻǘΣ IŜȊŜƪƛŀƘ ϧ /ƻΦέ 

http://financial.gwpapers.org/?q=content/josiah-watson-co
https://www.colonial-settlers-md-va.us/
https://www.colonial-settlers-md-va.us/
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southeast corner of Prince and Fairfax Street from 1796-1816.87 They leased space on this wharf from 

Watson, but in subsequent years they leased the corporation wharf at Point Lumley and later advertised 

cargoes at wŀƳǎŀȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ.88 Abram Henry occupied ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ wood warehouses in 1796.  

Watson attempted to sell all his real estate, including aƴ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ƻǳǘǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ά.ǳǎƘ IƛƭƭΣέ 

in 1795.89 Watson sold this parcel, wharf and pier to George Slacum in 1797.90 Watson sold Bush Hill the 

same year, though it is not clear if selling out was due to financial constraints or to a desire to move 

west.91 Josiah Watson lived in Alexandria with his wife and six children; three boarders Robert Casey, 

Isaac Thompson, and Jonathan Taylor, all clerks; three enslaved people older than 16 and one enslaved 

person younger than 16 for a total household of 15 people in 1799.92 

Parcel 56.4: IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мт84-1827 
Capt. John Harper (1728-1804) was a resident of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania when he purchased the part 

of Lots 56, 57, and 58 bordered by Fairfax Street on the west, Prince Street on the south, and άǘƘŜ 

ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ŀƴŘ ƳŜŀƴŘŜǊǎέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ tƻǘƻƳŀŎ wƛǾŜǊ on the east. The northern border was irregular and 

followed the boundaries of parcels John Hough had already sold to Benjamin Shreve and George Gilpin. 

The conveyance included άŀƭƭ ƘƻǳǎŜǎΣ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎΣ ƻǊŎƘŀǊŘǎ, ways, waters, watercourses, profits, 

commodities, hereditaments, and appurtenancesέ but has no specific mention of a pier or wharf.93  In 

the second conveyance, this was a lease and release transaction, an addendum ǎŀȅǎ ά!ƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƛŘ WƻƘƴ 

Harper do hereby condescend and agree to and with the said John Hough his executors &c to leave 

under the Bank Entirely across the said lott No. 56 Extending up and Down the River the said road to be 

ǘǿŜƴǘȅ ŦŜŜǘ ǿƛŘŜΦέ94 This north-south road was a precursor of the modern Strand, however its location 

may have been west of the modern Strand. 

 
87 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άwƛŎƪŜǘǘǎ ϧ bŜǿǘƻƴΦέ The firm was made up of William Newton, John Mills 
Jr., and John Thomas Ricketts.  
88 !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ {ƳƛǘƘ ŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΦΣέ Alexandria Expositor for the Country, December 1, 1803, 
GenealogyBank. 
89 WƻǎƛŀƘ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΣ άIƻǳǎŜǎΣ [ƻǘǎΣ ŀƴŘ [ŀƴŘǎ ŦƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Federal Intelligencer, March 26, 1795, GenealogyBank. 
90 Alex. I:300, March 19, 1797. 
91 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ aΦ DŀǊŘƴŜǊΣ DǿŜƴ WΦ IǳǊǎǘΣ ŀƴŘ WƻƘƴ tΦ aǳƭƭŜƴΣ άtI!{9 L-III ARCHEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS OF 4840 
9L{9bIh²9w !±9b¦9Σ ![9·!b5wL!Σ ±LwDLbL!έ ό²ƻƻŘǎǘƻŎƪΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΥ ¢ƘǳƴŘŜǊōƛǊŘ !ǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎȅΣ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нллнύΣ 
12, https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/historic/info/archaeology/sitereportgardnerbushhillax111phase1and3.pdf. 
92 1799 Alexandria Census, FamilySearch. https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3Q9M-CSKJ-49LH-
3?i=13&cat=666759. 
93 FDB K1:368, June 13, 1773. This is the lease portion of a lease and release transfer. The rent prescribed in the 
ŎƻƴǾŜȅŀƴŎŜ ƛǎ άone peppercorn on Lady day nextΦέ Lady Day was traditionally used in England as the 
beginning/end of the fiscal year and was the day when farmers and tenants could άenter intoέ ƻǊ ŎƭŀƛƳ their newly 
leased properties. In 1773 this practice was antiquated. Traditionally Lady Day was on March 25, but since the 
switch to the Georgian calendar in 1752 it fell on April 5. The significance in this contract is that Harper was to take 
possession of the property by April 5 of the following year (1774).  
94 FDB K1:370, June 14, 1773. ¢ƘŜ ŎƻƴǾŜȅŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘŜǊƴ ƘŀƭŦ ƻŦ WƻƘƴ IƻǳƎƘΩǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǘƻ DŜƻǊƎŜ DƛƭǇƛƴ ŘƻŜǎ 
not include a road under the bank. Its inclusion here indicates that the passageway across the southern parcel was 
ǘƘŜ ƻƴƭȅ ŀŎŎŜǎǎ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ŦƻǊ DƛƭǇƛƴΩǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǘƻ ǊŜŀŎƘ ŀ ƳŀƛƴǘŀƛƴŜŘ ǊƻŀŘ όtǊƛƴŎŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘύΦ It also shows that small vessels 
were using the natural shoreline as a loading and unloading zone, otherwise there would be no need for a wide 
road there. Footpaths were usually 4-сΩ ǿƛŘŜ and alleys were 10-мнΩΦ Harper would later follow through on this 
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Harper was a sea captain in Philadelphia and sailed to the West Indies and South America with New 

Jersey-based merchant William Hartshorne in 1765.95 Both men were part of a wave of merchant 

migration from the Philadelphia area to Baltimore and smaller ports in Virginia where they hoped to 

capture the grain trade of the western counties and Ohio River Valley. John Harper, carrying a letter of 

introduction from Philadelphia Quaker merchant Reese Meredith, dined and stayed at Mount Vernon 

with George Washington on June 11-12, 1773, the day before formalizing the purchase of this parcel.96 

He sold his several properties in the Philadelphia area, including his dwelling on Front Street and 

plantation in Chester County and lived in Alexandria by October 1774.97 Hartshorne and Harper 

continued their partnership as merchants for a short time but then continued separately in business 

endeavors. In his personal life, Harper was a member of the Presbyterian church and Masonic Lodge. He 

was on the Alexandria Common Council in 1780 with his neighbor to the north, Josiah Watson.98 He 

married twice and fathered 28 or 29 children before his death in 1804.99  

After the Revolution, Capt. Harper banked out his segment of Lot 56 in partnership with Josiah Watson, 

owner of the parcel to the north. Harper began to lease the parcels along Prince Street between Water 

and Union in 1783 with stipulations that lessees must add improvements within a determined period. 

Michael Thorn had to build a two-story brick house in three years, Slimmer & Boyer had to build a three-

story brick house within three years and their outbuildings had to be brick or stone, Thomas Tobin had 

to build a two-story brick dwelling house within four years (Image 13).100 Even though there is no extant 

deed for the parcel east of Union from this time period, the wharf was in use by March 1784, when 

Alexander Chisolm advertised herring and shad for sale there.101 The firm of Williams, Cary & Williams 

operated from a store on the wharf in May 1784 but removed to a store on Fairfax Street a few months 

 
agreement when, after building out their wharf and pier, he ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜŘ ŀ млΩ ǇŀǎǎŀƎŜǿŀȅ ŦǊƻƳ ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǘƻ 
Prince Street.  
95 Finding Aid, Clifford Family Papers, Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, 
https://discover.hsp.org/Record/ead-0136/Description#tabnav. 
96 άώWǳƴŜ мттоϐΣέ CƻǳƴŘŜǊǎ hƴƭƛƴŜΣ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ !ǊŎƘƛǾŜǎΣ ƘǘǘǇǎΥκκŦƻǳƴŘŜǊǎΦŀǊŎƘƛǾŜǎΦƎƻǾκŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎκ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴκлм-
03-02-0003-0012. [Original source: The Diaries of George Washington, vol. 3, 1 January 1771ς5 November 1781, 
ed. Donald Jackson. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia, 1978, pp. 185ς190.]; ά¢ƻ DŜƻǊƎŜ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ 
wŜŜǎŜ aŜǊŜŘƛǘƘΣ р aŀȅ мттоΣέ CƻǳƴŘŜǊǎ hƴƭƛƴŜΣ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ !ǊŎƘƛǾŜǎΣ 
https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Washington/02-09-02-0168. [Original source: The Papers of George 
²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴΣ /ƻƭƻƴƛŀƭ {ŜǊƛŜǎΣ ǾƻƭΦ фΣ у WŀƴǳŀǊȅ мттнς му aarch 1774, ed. W. W. Abbot and Dorothy Twohig. 
Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia, 1994, pp. 228ς229.] 
97 WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά¢ƻ .Ŝ {h[5 ōȅ ǘƘŜ {ǳōǎŎǊƛōŜǊΣέ Pennsylvania JournalΣ Wǳƭȅ нмΣ мттоΤ WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά¢h .Ŝ {ƻƭŘΣ .ȅ 
tǳōƭƛŎ ±ŜƴŘǳŜΣέ Pennsylvania JournalΣ aŀȅ ммΣ мттпΤ WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά9LDI¢ 5h[[!w{ wŜǿŀǊŘΣέ Pennsylvania 
Journal, October 19, 1774, GenealogyBank. 
98 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άAlexandria Town Officialdom, 1780-1823Φέ 
99 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άIŀǊǇŜǊΣ WƻƘƴ;έ !Φ DƭŜƴƴ /ǊƻǘƘŜǊǎΣ άvǳŀƪŜǊ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ {ƭŀǾŜǊȅ ƛƴ 9ŀǊƭȅ 
bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΥ ¢ƘŜ hǊŘŜŀƭ ƻŦ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IŀǊǘǎƘƻǊƴŜΣέ Journal of the Early Republic 25, no. 1 (2005): 48. 
Harper may have been a Quaker who was read out of his meeting before his first marriage.  
100 FDB O1:248, July 1, 1783; FDB O1:343, December 6, 1783; FDB P1:177, May 11, 1784. These conveyances 
included an option to buy out the lease. The parcels extend north into the strip of Lot 56 that was owned by Josiah 
Watson. The deed of sale from Watson to Harper is likely among those in the missing Deed Book N1 which 
contained indentures from 1781-1783. There is an index entry for a deed from Josiah Watson & wife to John 
Harper in N1:665.  
101 Alexander Chisholm, Virginia Journal and Alexandria AdvertiserΣ aŀǊŎƘ пΣ мтупΣ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀΩǎ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ 
Newspapers. 
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later (Image 15).102 In December 1784, Jonathan Swift & Co. moved into the store and carried on a 

wholesale trade of all types of goods from textiles, ceramics, personal items and accessories (Image 16). 

Swift & Co. soon offered the two upper stories of a three-story ōǊƛŎƪ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ŦƻǊ 

lease.103 Edward Harper occupied the ground floor by the end of 1785.104 In 1787, John McClenachan 

was the only tenant of a ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦ105 He sold spirits, wine, sugar, coffee, and ship 

supplies. McClenachan ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ŀ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ DƛƭǇƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ Ƨǳǎǘ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ tǊƛƴŎŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘ from this 

location.106  Lƴ мтуу ǘƘŜ ǘŀȄ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƻǊ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ aŎ/ƭŜƴŀŎƘŀƴΩǎ ƭƻǘ ŀǎ άƎǊƻǳƴŘ ƻƴ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘέ ǿƘƛŎƘ 

may indicate that his lease was only for the lot and his store was self-built. Evan McLean rented space 

άƻƴ ǘƘŜ ²ƘŀǊŦέ that year as well.107 In 1789, only Evan McLean occupied the Union Street lot.108 In 1790, 

Capt. John Harper was not assessed for any rents on Union Street or the wharf, suggesting that the 

waterfront lot was unoccupied at the time of the assessment.109 By November, Thomas Vowell 

advertised ǊǳƳΣ ƳƻƭŀǎǎŜǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǘŜŀ ŦƻǊ ǎŀƭŜ ŀǘ Ƙƛǎ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ (Image 17). In December 1790, 

Harper agreed to leave a road open through his lot east of Union Street, guaranteeing ²ŀǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǘŜƴŀƴǘǎΩ 

access to Prince Street.110  

After 1790, Capt. John Harper began the process of selling many of his real estate holdings in Alexandria 

and preparing the legal transfer of his ground rents to his many children. In April 1793, Harper signed 

over the ground rents on several of the Prince Street lots in trust to his daughters. Peggy, Mary, 

Elizabeth and Frances Rush each received two or three parcels and an enslaved girl.111 Occupants of 

ǎƻƳŜ ƻŦ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ Prince Street lots paid a lump sum to remit their ground rent including John Boyer, 

aƛŎƘŀŜƭ hΩaŀǊŀ, and William Wright.112 Harper, in his 1797 will, directed the wharf and dock to his son 

 
102 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΣ /ŀǊȅ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΣ άWǳǎǘ !ǊǊƛǾŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ƘƛǇ ¢ȅƎŜǊΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, May 
27, 1784, GenealogyBank; ά²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΣ /ŀǊȅΣ !ƴŘ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, November 
пΣ мтупΣ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀΩǎ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ bŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊǎΦ 
103 WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ {ǿƛŦǘ ϧ /ƻΣ ά¢ƻ .Ŝ [9¢Σέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, August 25, 1785, GenealogyBank. 
104 WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊ ŀƴŘ 9ŘǿŀǊŘ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά¢h .9 [9¢Σέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, December 15, 1785, 
GenealogyBank. 
105 1787 Alexandria Land Tax Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 17. His annual rent was £14 13s 4d. This was 
much less than several of the other tenants on Prince Street such as D & I McPherson (over £118) and Capt. 
Woodward (£150).  
106 WƻƘƴ aŎ/ƭŜƴŀŎƘŀƴΣ άWƻƘƴ aŎ/ƭŜƴŀŎƘŀƴΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, October 12, 1786; John 
aŎ/ƭŜƴŀŎƘŀƴΣ άWƻƘƴ aŎ/ƭŜƴŀŎƘŀƴΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, July 19, 1787, GenealogyBank. 
107 1788 Alexandria Land Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 7. 
108 1789 Alexandria Land Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 8. 
109 1790 Alexandria Land Book, on file at Alexandria Archaeology, 7. 
110 Alex. D:320, December 1, 1790. 
111 Alex. E:111, 119, 128, 135, April 10, 1793. This may have been an effort to preserve Ƙƛǎ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΩǎ ƛƴƘŜǊƛǘŀƴŎŜ 
before they married.  
112 Alex. F:98, August 27, 1794; Alex. G:136, August 24, 1795; Alex. G:155, September 17, 1794. 
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Robert Harper.113 In the 1799 Census of Alexandria, Jonathan Harper & his wife lived with 7 children, no 

boarders, one enslaved person over 16 and three enslaved children under 16.114 Harper died in 1804. 

The 1795 Alexandria Land Book ǎƘƻǿǎ ƴǳƳŜǊƻǳǎ ƻŎŎǳǇŀƴǘǎ ƻƴ WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘƛŜǎ ƻƴ tǊƛƴŎŜ 

Street. One entry is a higher value than the others, indicating the wharf property occupied by T. Patten 

& Co. Thomas Patten ōǳƛƭǘ ŀ ǿƻƻŘ ŦǊŀƳŜ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ and had the option to remove it 

when he moved to a lot at King and Union.115 Robert Henderson leased the wharf, pier and dock in 1796 

for a seven-year term to begin in October 1797. He sold beer, Carolina rice, and salt.116 He subleased the 

eastern part of the wharf including the wood frame warehouse built by Thomas Patten to John Barber, a 

general retailer, a few months later (Image 14).117 IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ мтфс aǳǘǳŀƭ !ǎǎǳǊŀƴŎŜ tƻƭƛŎȅ describes a 

three-story brick dwelling house (occupied as a store) with an adjacent two-story brick kitchen (Image 

18). To the east ǿŀǎ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ǿƻƻŘŜƴ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ and the area south, between the buildings and Prince 

Street, was vacant. Henderson was the listed occupant of the brick store and kitchen, Barber likely 

occupied the wood warehouse.118  

!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘǎ ǳǎŜŘ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǘƻ ƭŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŎŀǊƎƻŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǎ ŀ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ƻŦ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜΦ aŀǘǘƘŜǿ 

Franklin Bowne & Co. sold wines, sugar, window glass and other goods from this location in 1795 even 

though their auction house was two lots north on Union Street (Image 19).  

  

 
113 WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘέ ό[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΣ WǳƴŜ рΣ мулпύΣ 
FamilySearch, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NF4X?i=216&cat=279393. Harper divided 
his remaining real estate among his wife, surviving children and one granddaughter. A codicil acknowledged that 
ƻƴŜ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΩǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǿŀǎ ǿƻǊǘƘ ŦŀǊ ƳƻǊŜ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ ƻǘƘŜǊǎΣ ǎƻ ƘŜ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŘŜǘŀƛƭŜŘ ƛƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƻƴ Ƙƻǿ ǘƻ balance 
the inheritances. 
114 1799 Alexandria Census, FamilySearch, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3Q9M-CSKJ-49LH-
3?i=13&cat=666759. 
115 Alex. H:233, April 19, 1796; Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άtŀǘǘŜƴΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎΦέ 
116 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άIŜƴŘŜǊǎƻƴΣ wƻōŜǊǘΦέ 
117 Alex. H:233, April 19, 1796; Alex. H:237, November 9, 1796; Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά.ŀǊōŜǊΣ WƻƘƴΦέ 
118 MAP No. 130, October 18, 1796. 

https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NF4X?i=216&cat=279393
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Image 2. ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴΣ DŜƻǊƎŜΦ ά! tƭŀƴ ƻŦ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ bƻǿ .ŜƭƘŀǾŜƴΦέ мтпфΦ LƳŀƎŜΦ [ƛōǊŀǊȅ ƻŦ /ƻƴƎǊŜǎǎΦ 
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g3884a.ct000223/. Detail. 

https://www.loc.gov/resource/g3884a.ct000223/
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Image 3. Historic parcel locations on a 2021 aerial photo of the block east of Union, south of King, and north of Prince. 
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Image 4. Plat showing the partition of the property belonging to John Fitzgerald and Valentine Peers. FDB Y1:85, July 10, 1789. 
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Image 5. William Yeaton, A Sketch of the Water Lots, Arlington Chancery, Deposition of William Yeaton, George O. Dixion ETC v 
William H. Irwin, 1850-003. 
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Image 6. WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ {ǿƛŦǘΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜ ƻƴ ŀ [ƛōŜǊŀƭ /ǊŜŘƛǘΣέ ¢ƛƳŜǎΤ ŀƴŘ 5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ ƻŦ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀ 5ŀƛƭȅ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ мтΣ мтфуΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Image 7. tΦ aŀǊǎǘŜƭƭŜǊΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΣέ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ WƻǳǊƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ Wǳƭȅ рΣ мтутΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 8. WƻƘƴ aŎLǾŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ {ǳōǎŎǊƛōŜǊ ¢ŀƪŜǎ ¢Ƙƛǎ hǇǇƻǊǘǳƴƛǘȅΣέ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ bƻǾŜƳōŜǊ ммΣ мтфлΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Image 9. DŜƻǊƎŜ /ƻǊȅŜƭƭΣ άDŜƻǊƎŜ /ƻǊȅŜƭƭ Iŀǎ ŦƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀƴ aƛǊǊƻǊ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ hŎǘƻōŜǊ рΣ мтфоΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Image 10. aŀǘǘƘŜǿ CǊŀƴƪƭƛƴ .ƻǿƴŜΣ άaŀǘǘƘŜǿ CǊŀƴƪƭƛƴ .ƻǿƴŜ ϧ /ƻΦΣέ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀƴ aƛǊǊƻǊ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ !ǇǊƛƭ олΣ 
1795, GenealogyBank. 
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Image 11. Mutual Assurance Society Policy (MAP) No. 43, April 23, 1796, Mutual Assurance Society Papers, Library of Virginia, 
on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
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Image 12. Mutual Assurance Society Policy (MAP) No. 42, April 23, 1796, Mutual Assurance Society Papers, Library of Virginia, 
on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
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Image 13. Rendering of the parcels along the north edge of Prince Street in 1783 superimposed over modern street map. 
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Image 14. WƻƘƴ .ŀǊōŜǊΣ άWƻƘƴ .ŀǊōŜǊΣέ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀƴ aƛǊǊƻǊ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ !ǇǊƛƭ мсΣ мтфсΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 15. ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΣ /ŀǊȅ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳǎΣ άWǳǎǘ !ǊǊƛǾŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ƘƛǇ ¢ȅƎŜǊΣέ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ WƻǳǊƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ aŀȅ нтΣ 
1784, GenealogyBank. 
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Image 16. WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ {ǿƛŦǘ ϧ /ƻΣ ά/I9!t {¢hw9Σέ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ WƻǳǊƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ сΣ мтурΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 17. ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΣ ά¢Iha!{ ±h²9[[Σέ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ bƻǾŜƳōŜǊ ммΣ мтфлΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Image 18. Mutual Assurance Society Policy (MAP) No. 130, October 18, 1796, Mutual Assurance Society Papers, Library of 
Virginia, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
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Image 19. aŀǘǘƘŜǿ CǊŀƴƪƭƛƴ .ƻǿƴŜΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜ ŀǘ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣέ /ƻƭǳƳōƛŀƴ aƛǊǊƻǊ ŀƴŘ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ WǳƴŜ мсΣ мтфрΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Early 19th Century, 1800-1859 

Parcel 51.1  

Dunlap & LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мул2-1806 
CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǊŀƛǎŜŘ ŀ ǿƛƴƴƛƴƎ ōƛŘ ƻŦ ϷмпΣтрл ƛƴ WǳƴŜ мулн ōȅ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘǎ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ 

and Thomas Irwin (1761-1827).119 Irish immigrant Thomas Irwin operated as a merchant in Alexandria by 

1791, when he imported linens from Dublin with his partner, and probably brother, James Irwin (c. 

1757-1822). James was a ropemaker whose ropewalk was located at Washington & Queen Streets from 

1791-1796, though he was operating a ropewalk in Alexandria as early as 1786 using enslaved and term 

laborers.120 Irwin & Irwin ǎƻƭŘ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŜŘ ƎƻƻŘǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻǊŘŀƎŜ ŦǊƻƳ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ on Prince Street 

(described above, part of Parcel 6 in Image 3). They dissolved their partnership in 1793 and James Irwin 

continued ropemaking and served as a Justice of the Peace.121 Thomas Irwin kept up his merchant 

activities from his wooden warehouse on the west side of Union Street just south of King Street, a lot he 

purchased in 1794 (Image 22).122 Thomas married Elizabeth Janney on August 31, 1791 (Image 20, Image 

21). ElizabethΩǎ ǇŀǊŜƴǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ WƻǎŜǇƘ ŀƴŘ IŀƴƴŀƘ WƻƴŜǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭƭȅ ŦǊƻƳ tŜƴƴǎȅƭǾŀƴƛŀ ōǳǘ ǊŜǎƛŘŜƴǘ 

in Loudoun County, Virginia by 1791. The Irwins were members of the Alexandria Monthly Meeting until 

their deaths.123 

Dunlap & Irwin partnered as merchants since 1793, importing general merchandise and grocery items 

such as textiles, coffee and cotton.124 5ǳƴƭŀǇ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ on the west side of 

Union Street in July 1794 and built a brick warehouse there (Image 22).125 Their joint accounts show 

some expenses related to its construction in 1794-1796 including buying posts and sinking them in the 

 
119 Alexandria Deed Book (ADB) C:73, June 25, 1802; wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ тΦ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ 
household included his wife, Elizabeth, and two children, three enslaved people, Samuel Dunlap, a clerk, and Sarah 
Klinehoof, a housekeeper in 1800. 1800 Alexandria Census, Ward 4, FamilySearch, 
https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3Q9M-CSKJ-49L4-P?i=42&cat=666759. 
120 Alex. IΥннмΣ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ олΣ мтфсΤ 5Ŝƴƴƛǎ wŀƳǎŀȅΣ άCƻǊǘȅ 5ƻƭƭŀǊǎ wŜǿŀǊŘΣέ Virginia Journal and Alexandria 
Advertiser, May 3, 1787, GenealogyBank; Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άLǊǾƛƴΣ WŀƳŜǎΦέIrwin was sometimes 
spelled Irvine or Irvin. 
121 ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴ ŀƴŘ WŀƳŜǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΦΣέ Columbian Mirror and Alexandria Gazette, December 18, 1793, 
GenealogyBank. James Irwin died on September 7, 1822 at 65 years of age (Alexandria Gazette, September 10, 
1822). 
122 FDB X1:262, February 27, 1794. The wooden warehouse was built by 1796 when it was described on John 
DunlaǇΩǎ ƛƴǎǳǊŀƴŎŜ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŀŘƧƻƛƴƛƴƎ ōǊƛŎƪ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΦ This parcel is now 101-103 South Union Street, and 
the wood warehouse is no longer extant. 
123 U.S. Encyclopedia of American Quaker Genealogy, 1607-1943, Ancestry.com; Baltimore Yearly Meeting Minutes, 
US Quaker Meeting Records, 1681-1935, Ancestry.com, 
https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-
00046?pId=1107287585. 
124 ά!ǊǊƛǾŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ CƻǊǘΣ ŀƴŘ tŜǊŦƻǊƳƛƴƎ vǳŀǊŀƴǘƛƴŜΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, September 
9, 1797, GenealogyBank. The beginning of their partnership is noted in Arlington Chancery, Thomas Irwin vs. 
Executors of John Dunlap, 1810-016. 
125 Alex. E:465, July 22, 1794. The warehouse was insured by Dunlap in 1796. MAP No. 5, March 17, 1796. This 
parcel is now 105 South Union Street. 

https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-00046?pId=1107287585
https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-00046?pId=1107287585
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lot, plank and scantling, labor, sand and brick for a footway on the lot, rails for the warehouse, 

whiterope for the hoisting wheel, and nails, locks and screws for the warehouse.126  

In 1802 Dunlap & Irwin bought the wharf property, practically across the street from their separately 

owned warehouses, together. Joseph Nevitt, a packet and steamboat operator, remembered the wharf 

άƛƴ ǊǳƛƴǎΣ ǘƘŜ ǘƛŘŜ ŦƭƻǿƛƴƎ ƻǾŜǊ Ƴƻǎǘ ƻŦ ƛǘΦέ127 He described a small wharf with one pier, the ǿŀǘŜǊ άǎƻ 

deep as to enable the packets to lay with the bowspirit  [sic], full up on King Street and resting on the 

ƭƻƎǎΣ ƧǳǘǘƛƴƎ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜƳ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎǘǊŜŜǘΦέ William Yeaton recalled that the wharf was under water when 

Dunlap & Irwin purchased it, but they filled it up ƭŜŀǾƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳƴŘ άǾŜǊȅ ǊƻǳƎƘ ŀƴŘ used for landing 

ƭǳƳōŜǊΦέ128  

The city paved King Street from Union to the head of the dock in 1804 and Dunlap & Irwin built two 

three-story brick wings with hip roofs onto the east side of the existing warehouse that extended 50 feet 

toward the Potomac RiverΣ ƻƴŜ ŀƭƻƴƎ YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŀƴŘ ƻƴŜ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ олΩ ŀƭƭŜȅ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

parcel (Image 5).129 Depositions from a Supreme Court case reveal that Neale Mooney, Abednego 

Adams, and John Ball, all bricklayers by trade, built the warehouses.130 Dunlap & Irwin extended the 

front of the wharf and built out a pier. Thomas Sanford, a sailmaker who occupied a space on the north 

side of King Street, testified that Thomas Irwin (the father) built out the wharf on piles and filled it with 

stone and earth. Many witnesses remarked on the loads of sand, stone, dirt, and earth that went toward 

filling holes as they opened in the surface of the wharf. John Howard, the occupant of the northeast 

warehouse, claimed to have used hundreds of cart loads of dirt and stone to fill the wharf over a 4-year 

period. ά.ŜǊƳǳŘŀ ōŀƭƭŀǎǘΣέ ōŀllast from the ships returning from the Caribbean, was regularly used as fill 

here. A four-foot-wide brick footpath extended from King Street along the east side of the warehouses 

ǘƻ ǘƘŜ олΩ ŀƭƭŜȅ. The alley, sometimes called CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎ !ƭƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ ǎƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ 5ƻŎƪ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ was paved 

with an unknown method by Fitzgerald and Swift in 1798; Dunlap & Irwin repaved the northern half of it 

probably in 1805 after they completed the new warehouses. Others testified that Irwin or the 

warehouse occupant would lay down a temporary wooden gangway leading from the docks to the 

warehouse doors to keep barrels out of the mud. Thomas Irwin was known to use a horsewhip to chase 

draymen and carts off his wharf. Irwin complained that the horses stamped holes in the surface, and 

ǘƘŜȅ ŘǊŜǿ ŦƭƛŜǎΣ ƴƻƛǎŜ ŀƴŘ ŘǳǎǘΦ hƴŜ ǿƛǘƴŜǎǎ ǘŜǎǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǎ ŀ ōƻȅΣ ƘŜ ƪƴŜǿ άLŦ L ǇƛŎƪŜŘ ǳǇ ŀ ǎǘƻƴŜ ŀƴŘ 

ǘƘǊŜǿ ώƛǘϐ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊƛǾŜǊΣ ǘƘŜ ƻƭŘ Ƴŀƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ŎƻƳŜ ƻǳǘ ŀƴŘ ƎƛǾŜ ƳŜ ŀ ƪƛŎƪΦέ131  

Lƴ ǘƘŜƛǊ Ƨƻƛƴǘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ǾŜƴǘǳǊŜǎΣ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ άƘŀŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƻŦ ώǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ 

ǾŜǎǎŜƭǎ ŀƴŘ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ ǎƘƛǇƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŜƴǘǳǊŜǎ ŀōǊƻŀŘϐ ŀƴŘ ƪŜǇǘ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƛŘ ǾŜǎǎŜƭǎΦέ132 

Dunlap & Irwin chartered ships with cargos of local commodities to ports on the northeast coast of 

South America such as Cayenne, French Guiana and Suriname. One cargo on the schooner Hope 

consisted of flour, pork, beef, ship bread, pilot bread, lard and butter (Image 23). Dennis McCarty 

 
126 Arlington Chancery, Thomas Irwin vs. Executors of John Dunlap, 1810-016. 
127 Deposition of Joseph Nevitt, George O. Dixion ETC vs. William H. Irwin, Arlington County Chancery Court, 
1850-003. 
128 Deposition of William Yeaton, Ibid.  
129 wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ уΤ WŀƳŜǎ aŎ/ǊŜŀΣ άLƴ /ƻƳƳƻƴ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, June 
22, 1804, GenealogyBank.  
130 Arlington Chancery, Deposition of John Ball, George O. Dixion ETC vs. William H. Irwin, 1850-003. 
131 Deposition of Joseph Harris, Ibid. 
132 Arlington Chancery, Thomas Irwin vs. Executors of John Dunlap, 1810-016. 
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Johnston, an Alexandria-based sea captain, spent over three years in France on their behalf, from July 

1802 to September 1805, though the exact nature of his voyage is undocumented.133 Irwin called for 

freight and charters to any port in Europe on the ship Ann, which was docked at the King Street Wharf in 

1803.134 Irwin moved his store to the corner warehouse in early 1804, and Daniel McDougall occupied 

the sail loft above it.135 John Sutton ran a packet, a regular trip between two ports, to Norfolk from this 

wharf starting in 1804 (Image 24).136  

Before WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ death in the fall of 1806, the partners spent nearly $7,400 repairing and extending 

the wharf and building the two warehouses.137 Dunlap willed άƳȅ ƭƻǘǘ ϧ ōǊƛŎƪ ware house & back 

buildings ǘƘŜǊŜƻƴ ǎƛǘǳŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘέ to his daughter, Mary, along with all his 

other individually-owned real estate including his lot on the west side of Union north of King. He did not 

bequeath his share of the wharf lot, nor his personal property, to anyone.138 Elizabeth Dunlap, his 

widow, emancipated an eleven-year-old enslaved girl, Bet Salter, in exchange for one dollar. The 

documentation does not reveal why Bet was freed at this particular time; however, it is possible 

Elizabeth Dunlap ŀƴŘ .ŜǘΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΣ Phanney Salter, had an agreement in place to free the child.139 The 

sale of 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ stock in hand, consisting of 13 bales of woolen cloths, raised nearly two thousand 

pounds. His household and counting house furnishings, livestock, and an unnamed enslaved girl were 

included in subsequent auctions.140 Thomas Irwin ǎǳŜŘ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŦƻǊ ƻǾŜǊ ϷмуΣллл ƻǿŜŘ ƘƛƳ ŦǊƻƳ 

their mutual business transactions dating back to 1793. The Chancery Court ruled in LǊǿƛƴΩǎ favor; 

however, 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ōǊƻǘƘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǿƛŘƻǿ ŘƛŘ not agree and petitioned the court for a lesser amount, 

$10,000. Their petition was ultimately discontinued by the court.141 

 
133 Arlington Chancery, Thomas Irwin vs. Executors of John Dunlap, 1810-016. It appears Johnston was acting as an 
ŀƎŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ ϧ LǊǿƛƴ ŀǎ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴ άWƻƘƴǎǘƻƴΩǎ ōƛƭƭǎ ŘǊŀǿƴ ƛƴ CǊŀƴŎŜ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǎŀƛŘ 
WƻƘƴǎǘƻƴΩǎ ƻǳǘŦƛǘǎ ƘŜǊŜ ώƛƴ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀϐΦέ 
134 ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ CǊŜƛƎƘǘ ƻǊ /ƘŀǊǘŜǊΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, September 23, 1803, GenealogyBank. Irwin 
excepted the Baltic and Mediterranean from possible ports of call for the voyage.  
135 5ŀƴƛŜƭ aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣ ά5ŀƴƛŜƭ aΩ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, July 30, 1804, GenealogyBank. 
136 WƻƘƴ {ǳǘǘƻƴΣ άbƻǊŦƻƭƪ tŀŎƪŜǘΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, November 13, 1804, GenealogyBank. 
137 Arlington Chancery, Thomas Irwin vs. Executors of John Dunlap, 1810-016. 
138 WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΣ ά[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇέ ό[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΣ hŎǘƻōŜǊ 
29, 1806), FamilySearch, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NFML?i=403&cat=279393. 
139 ADB O:312, November 25, 1806. Bet Salter was emancipated again ōȅ 9ƭƛȊŀōŜǘƘ ŀƴŘ aŀǊȅ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ ƛƴ мумл άin 
consideration of the long and faithful service of the said Fanny Salter from motives of humanity to her said 
daughterΦέ Possibly the 1806 deed of emancipation was void and Bet was sold back to Elizabeth and Mary Dunlap 
in the estate auction. Fanny Salter was emancipated by John Dunlap according to this deed, however the 
documentation for that is unrecovered. ADB S:288, May 1, 1810. 
140 aŀǊǎǘŜƭƭŜǊΣ tƘƛƭƛǇ DΦΣ ά{ŀƭŜ ŀǘ !ǳŎǘƛƻƴΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, November 8, 1806, GenealogyBank; ά{ŀƭŜǎ 
ŀǘ ±ŜƴŘǳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ƻŦ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ ƭŀǘŜ ƻŦ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ŘŜŎŜŀǎŜŘΣέ (Inventory, Alexandria, Virginia, 
March 18, 1807), FamilySearch, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-
NXBK?i=442&cat=279393. !ƭǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊΣ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ǊŀƛǎŜŘ ϷфΣоууΦмп. 
141 Arlington Chancery, James Dunlap, Eliza Dunlap, and David Black vs. Executor of John Dunlap and Thomas Irwin, 
1815-019. The heirs of John Dunlap argued that Dunlap had been infirm for 2-3 years preceding his death and thus 
not involved in business affairs. He was careful with his accounts and, they argued, would not have left so much 
unbalanced money on his books over so long a period. However, in the accounts provided by Thomas Irwin and 
those surviving from Dunlap, the court-appointed commissioners found general agreement in the amount owed to 
Irwin. !ƭƭ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎΣ ŜȄŎŜǇǘ ǘƘŜ ƘŜƛǊǎΣ ŀƎǊŜŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ƘŜƭŘ ƳƻǊŜ ŘŜōǘ ǘƘŀƴ its value.  

https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NFML?i=403&cat=279393
https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NXBK?i=442&cat=279393
https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NXBK?i=442&cat=279393
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LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мулс-1905 
LǊǿƛƴ ŀƴŘ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ƘŜƛǊǎ ǿŜƴǘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ ȅŜŀǊǎ ƻŦ ƭŜƎŀƭ ŀƴŘ financial negotiations before Irwin 

secured full ownership of the wharf property. James and Samuel Dunlap inherited half shares of their 

ōǊƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ remaining ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǿƛŘƻǿΩǎ ǘƘƛǊŘ ǿŀǎ ǘŀƪŜƴ ƻǳǘ: this left each brother with ¼ share of 

the wharf and lot on King & Union. 9ƭƛȊŀōŜǘƘ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ŘƻǿŜǊΣ ƻǊ ǿƛŘƻǿΩǎ ǘƘƛǊŘΣ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ мулу 

provides some detail about the structures on the wharf property at that time: five brick warehouses and 

a wharf that together brought in $1200 annual rent during the embargo.142 James Dunlap lived in South 

Carolina and sold his ¼ share of the wharf and lot to Thomas Irwin in 1808.143  

Samuel Dunlap moved between Virginia and South Carolina amassing debts in each location. David 

Black, an Alexandria merchant, represented {ŀƳǳŜƭΩǎ share of the estate in some of the legal 

proceedings, but eventually his surviving brother, James, bought out his share for $12,000 in cash, 

bonds, and horses.144 This sale was never recorded in the Alexandria land tax books, so when Samuel 

declared insolvency in Alexandria and did not claim the wharf and lot, the court-appointed trustee, 

Charles J. Catlett, sued. The court nullified the sale and ordered that the trustee sell the ¼ share at 

public auction, where Thomas Irwin purchased it in 1813.145 Nearly ǎŜǾŜƴ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀŦǘŜǊ WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ 

death, Thomas Irwin had full, legal ownership of the wharf, warehouses, and pier.  

Thomas Irwin continued to engage in trade and profit from the rents, wharfage and dockage of the 

wharf and pier property. He chartered ships to New York, Norfolk and Richmond and imported cargoes 

of salt, German iron, and shad.146 Alexandria merchants, such as W. Wedderburn, landed and sold cargo 

including flour for family use.147 The 1810 tax assessment listed three occupants for this parcel: Jonathan 

Janney, James Keith, Jr., and Newton Keane (Keene). Janney was a consignment merchant who would 

later purchase the wharf to the south of this on Parcel 51.2. James Keith, Jr. was the son of James Keith, 

who owned a wharf at the foot of Franklin Street. Newton Keane (Keene) was a sail maker and would 

have occupied the sail loft across the top floor of the three Union-fronting warehouses. Philip G. 

Marsteller, vendue master, ǳǎŜŘ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ǿƘŀǊŦ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜǎ to sell ground allum salt, spinning 

 
142 ADB U:75, December 31, 1808. The rent value was $1,800/year without the embargo. Her dower was adjusted 
for the embargo: $200 per year with and $300 annually without.  
143 ADB O:491, January 20, 1808; ADB R:259, May 6, 1809. Thomas Irwin published a notice in the Alexandria 
newspapers in aŀȅ мулф ǿŀǊƴƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ άƴƻǘŜǎ ǘƻ WŀƳŜǎ 5ǳƴƭŀǇ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ƴƻǘ ōŜ ǘŀƪŜƴ ǳǇ ǳƴǘƛƭ ǎǘƛǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŜǘΣέ 
though it is unknown what the stipulations are. James Dunlap then sued Thomas Irwin claiming that Irwin had not 
upheld his promise to provide a mortgage after James sold the wharf to him. The outcome of that cause is not 
recorded. ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette, Commercial & Political, May 15, 1809, 
GenealogyBank; Arlington Chancery, James Dunlap vs. Thomas Irvine, 1812-023. 
144 Arlington Chancery, Charles J. Catlett vs. Samuel Dunlap, 1812-006; ADB Q:358, September 3, 1808; ADB S:84, 
May 6, 1809. James Dunlap and Samuel Dunlap agreed to sell the wharf and warehouses to Irwin after insolvency 
proceedings, but the court order to sell at public auction nullified that agreement. 
145 /Φ WΦ /ŀǘƭŜǘǘΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette, Commercial & Political, July 17, 1813, GenealogyBank.; ADB 
X:155, July 17, 1813. 
146 ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ bŜǿ-¸ƻǊƪΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette, Commercial & Political, August 19, 1808; Thomas 
LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜΦΣέ !ǇǊƛƭ сΣ мулфΤ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ bŜǿ ¸ƻǊƪΣέ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ мΣ мулфΤ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ ά.ŀǊ-Iron, Steel, 
Spike-wƻŘǎΣέ {ŜǇǘŜƳōŜǊ мрΣ мумлΤ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ bŜǿ-¸ƻǊƪΣέ Wǳƭȅ нмΣ мумнΤ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ άCƻǊ bƻǊŦƻƭƪ ϧ 
wƛŎƘƳƻƴŘΣέ Alexandria GazetteΣ !ǇǊƛƭ нпΣ мумтΤ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΣ ά[ŀƴŘƛƴƎ ¢Ƙƛǎ 5ŀȅΣέ aŀȅ моΣ мумтΣ GenealogyBank. 
147 ²Φ ²ŜŘŘŜǊōǳǊƴΣ άCƭƻǳǊΣ ŦƻǊ CŀƳƛƭȅ ¦ǎŜΦΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, December 3, 1806, GenealogyBank. 
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cotton, rice, shad, and sails (Image 25).148 William H. Brown sold hemp seed, wine and olives.149 Daniel 

Cawood & Co. occupied a warehouse on the wharf in 1814.150 Peyton & Dundas sold rum, rice, 

mahogany, cognac, currants, and Maryland tobacco from 1815-1818.151 

Charles Catlett, who was the court-appointed trustee in WƻƘƴ 5ǳƴƭŀǇΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ǇǊƻŎŜŜŘƛƴƎǎΣ ƘŀŘ ŀ ǎǘƻǊŜ 

on the north side of King Street ŀƴŘ ǳǎŜŘ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ǿƘŀǊŦ ǘƻ ƭŀƴŘ ǎŀƭǘ ŀƴŘ ƎǊƻŎŜǊƛŜǎΦ He became business 

partners with Thomas Irwin, Jr. in 1817, forming Catlett & Irwin.152 He occupied the northeast 

warehouse ŦƻǊ άŀ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ȅŜŀǊǎ.έ153 Lindsay & HillΣ ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘǎΣ ƳƻǾŜŘ ǘƻ άǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƭŀǘŜƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ 

tŜȅǘƻƴ ϧ 5ǳƴŘŀǎΣ ƻƴ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦέ ƛƴ мумуΦ154 From there they sold rum, whiskey, coffee, and candles. 

They remained on the wharf until at least 1820. 

One occupant in 1830, Edward Sheehy, was a grocery and soap retailer on Prince Street. His buildings 

and stock-in-trade burned in a fire in January 1827.155 His soap and tallow manufactory reopened on 

Prince Street after the fire. Robert Wilson was a chair maker who operated two manufactories on King 

Street, one at Washington and one at Pitt. His business expanded to Washington, D. C. in 1825.156 

George Johnston, an auctioneer, occupied space in one of the warehouses in 1830.157 Charles C. Smoot 

& Co. was a tannery operated by Charles Calvert Smoot and various associates. Smoot was born in 

Maryland and moved to Alexandria in 1820. He opened a tannery on Washington Street and it remained 

in operation until the end of the 19th century. They may have operated a store front here, or simply 

rented warehouse space like many other merchants and retailers.158 From 1831-1832, H. B. Rose & Co. 

occupied the northeast warehouse. A partnership of R. J. T. Wilson and H. B. Rose, the firm had a 

general assortment of groceries and ship chandlery.159 

When Thomas Irwin died in January 1827, his real and personal estates were evenly distributed among 

his heirs; however, the legal partition of the property did not take place until his youngest son, William 

 
148 tΦ DΦ aŀǊǎǘŜƭƭŜǊΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, April 20, 1808; tΦ DΦ aŀǊǎǘŜƭƭŜǊΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΣέ 
Alexandria Gazette, Commercial and Political, October 6, 1814, GenealogyBank. 
149 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά.ǊƻǿƴΣ ²ƳΦ IΦέ 
150 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά/ŀǿƻƻŘΣ 5ŀƴƛŜƭ ϧ /ƻΦέ 
151 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άtŜȅǘƻƴ ϧ 5ǳƴŘŀǎΦέ 
152 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά/ŀǘƭŜǘǘΣ /ƘŀǎΦ WΦέ 
153 Arlington Chancery, Deposition of Charles Catlett, George O. Dixion ETC vs. William H. Irwin, 1850-003. 
154 5ƛŀƴŜ wƛƪŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘ ²ŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜΣέ фΦ 
155 9ŘǿŀǊŘ {ƘŜŜƘȅΣ ά/ƻǊƴ ϧ tƻǘŀǘƻŜǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, May 22, 1820, GenealogyBank; 
9ŘǿŀǊŘ {ƘŜŜƘȅΣ ά9ƴƎƭƛǎƘ {ƘƻŜ ¢ƘǊŜŀŘΣέ The Alexandrian, December 5, 1820, GenealogyBankΤ ά¢ƘŜ [ŀǘŜ CƛǊŜΣέ 
Alexandria Gazette, January 23, 1827, GenealogyBank. 
156 wƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ ά/ƘŜŀǇ /ƘŀƛǊǎΣ 9ǘŎΦΣέ Alexandria Herald, June 3, 1822, GenealogyBankΤ wƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ ά/ƘŜŀǇ 
/ƘŀƛǊǎΣέ Alexandria Herald, August 11, 1823, GenealogyBankΤ wƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ άwƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣέ Phenix Gazette, 
October 13, 1825, GenealogyBankΤ wƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ άwƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣέ Alexandria Gazette, April 10, 1826, 
GenealogyBankΤ wƻōŜǊǘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ άtŀǘŜƴǘ .ŜŘǎǘŜŀŘǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, May 16, 1827, GenealogyBank; Robert 
²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Phenix Gazette, April 10, 1828, GenealogyBank. 
157 DŜƻǊƎŜ WƻƘƴǎǘƻƴΣ ά!ǳŎǘƛƻƴǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, March 16, 1827, GenealogyBank. 
158 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά{Ƴƻƻǘ ¢ŀƴƴŜǊȅΦέ 
159 wΦ WΦ ¢Φ ²ƛƭǎƻƴ ŀƴŘ IΦ .Φ wƻǎŜΣ άw W ¢ ²ƛƭǎƻƴ ϧ I . wƻǎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, March 23, 1831, GenealogyBank; 
IΦ .Φ wƻǎŜ ŀƴŘ wΦ WΦ ¢Φ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ ά5ƛǎǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ /ƻǇŀǊǘƴŜǊǎƘƛǇΣέ Alexandria Gazette, April 19, 1832, GenealogyBank. 
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H. Irwin, reached the age of majority (21 years old) in 1835.160 The warehouses were distributed as such: 

the corner of Union and King went to Mary Irwin, James Irwin received the northeast, the middle went 

to William H. Irwin, the Union-fronting south warehouse went to Thomas Irwin, and Ann Carey inherited 

the southeast. The wharf and pier were divided into three equal shares split between James, William H. 

and Ann (aka Nancy). William and Ann lived in Baltimore, Maryland and Mary occupied herself managing 

the tavern. This left Thomas Irwin Jr. and James Irwin as the primary managers of the warehouses and 

wharf properties.161 William H. Irwin settled his share on his wife, Anne Patten, upon their marriage in 

1839.162 

George Johnson and John Douglass established their general commission and agency firm, George 

WƻƘƴǎƻƴ ϧ /ƻΦ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ άCLw9 twhhC ²!w9Ih¦{9έ ƛƴ !ǇǊƛƭ муомΦ Their initial offering of goods 

included wines, tobacco and forte pianos. They chartered ships for cargo and passengers to domestic 

and international ports. They operated here until 1837.163 William H. Miller advertised the warehouse 

for rent in December 1837.164  Ward & Brother moved in by April 1838 and remained in business until 

January 1839, selling a wide variety of groceries and household necessities.165 

The 1840 tax assessment provides a clearer picture of which tenants occupied which warehouse (Image 

26)Φ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ /Φ {Ƴƻƻǘ ϧ /ƻ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ aŀǊȅ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ. Masters & Cox occupied the 

middle warehouse owned by William H. Irwin. A partnership between Solomon S. Masters and William J. 

Cox since at least 1837, this consignment firm sent cargoes and passengers to ports in the Caribbean.166  

Stephen Shinn occupied the southwest warehouse owned by Thomas Irwin. Shinn operated his 

ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŦǊƻƳ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ, but likely used this warehouse as additional storage space. 

WŀƳŜǎ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ northeast warehouse on King Street was occupied by A. J. Fleming. Fleming, who traded in 

general groceries with various partners, moved to this store in 1834.167 Calvert & Bayne occupied the 

southeast warehouse, owned by John E. Carey, for one year from September 1839-September 1840. 

They operated a general grocery business άƻƴŜ ŘƻƻǊ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦέ168 James & 

William H. Irwin owned and managed the wharf. 

John Howard rented the two eastern warehouses and the wharf from James Irwin, Ann Carey and 

William H. Irwin beginning June 26, 1841. His 2-year lease extended an additional year on a verbal 

agreement. In the meantime, James Irwin failed to repay a debt and his warehouse (northeast), which 

was held in trust to secure the debt, sold at public auction in 1842.169 George O. Dixion and John A. 

 
160 Phenix Gazette, January 29, 1827. LǊǿƛƴΩǎ obituary appeared in the same publication on February 2, 1827. He 
was interred at the FriendǎΩ ōǳǊȅƛƴƎ ƎǊƻǳƴŘ ƛƴ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΦ He now has a memorial in the Christ Church Episcopal 
Cemetery in Alexandria. https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/116059801/thomas-irwin 
161 ADB V2:305, January 15, 1835. 
162 ADB Z2:359, October 3, 1839. 
163 DŜƻǊƎŜ WƻƘƴǎƻƴ ŀƴŘ WƻƘƴ 5ƻǳƎƭŀǎǎΣ ά/ƻ-tŀǊǘƴŜǊǎƘƛǇΣέ Alexandria Gazette, April 23, 1831, GenealogyBank. 
164 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IΦ aƛƭƭŜǊΣ άCƻǊ wŜƴǘΣέ Alexandria Gazette, December 30, 1837, GenealogyBank. 
165 ²ŀǊŘ ϧ .ǊƻǘƘŜǊΣ ά¢ƘŜ {ǳōǎŎǊƛōŜǊǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, April 9, 1838, GenealogyBank; Ward & Brother, 
άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, January 11, 1839, GenealogyBank. 
166 {ƻƭƻƳƻƴ {Φ aŀǎǘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ WΦ /ƻȄΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, September 1, 1848, GenealogyBank. 
167 !ƴŘǊŜǿ WΦ CƭŜƳƛƴƎΣ άw9ah±![Σέ Alexandria Gazette, July 1, 1834, GenealogyBank. 
168 w /ŀƭǾŜǊǘ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ .ŀȅƴŜΣ άbh¢L/9Σέ Alexandria Gazette, September 17, 1839, GenealogyBank; R Calvert and 
²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ .ŀȅƴŜΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, September 11, 1840, GenealogyBank. 
169 ADB C3:199, February 28, 1842; ADB C3:272, November 21, 1842; ADB B3:457, December 8, 1842; ADB D3:338, 
October 21, 1843; WƻƘƴ IƻƻŦŦΣ ά¢Ǌǳǎǘ {ŀƭŜ ƻŦ wŜŀƭ 9ǎǘŀǘŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, September 3, 1842, GenealogyBank. 
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Dixion won the sale, and Howard continued to occupy the warehouse. A dispute arose between William 

H. Irwin and the Dixions when Irwin built a fence to enclose the vacant ground in between the two 

eastern warehouses (Image 26). The Dixions argued that the fence and shanty blocked their access to 

the wharf, blocked their windows from sunlight, and stopped up the public access to the wharf. Irwin 

argued that the wharf was his private property and the Dixions had no standing to bar him from 

construction. A lower court placed an injunction on the fence, however Irwin appealed to the United 

States Supreme Court where he won. The court found that there was no evidence that the wharf was 

public land and that Irwin had ample documentation and testimony that it had always been considered 

private.170 Ultimately, the two parties agreed that the fence could not block the windows and it was 

removed.171  

²ƘŜƴ WŀƳŜǎ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ property was sold in 1842, it included a 1/3 share of the wharf and pier. Elizabeth 

Irwin, the widow of Thomas Irwin and mother of James, purchased the partial share.172 When she died, 

her estate distributed the center warehouse fronting on Union and her 1/3 share of the wharf and pier 

to all her heirs.173 

J. Newton Harper and Nathaniel Boush began a ship chandlery, grocery, and country produce stand in 

the Dixion warehouse in March 1854. Boush, a native of Norfolk, Virginia, was a steamship captain who 

formerly ran a packet from the Potomac River to New Orleans. The packets carried cargo, passengers 

and enslaved people who were being sold or transported to the Mississippi River and were operated by 

WƻƘƴ !ǊƳŦƛŜƭŘΣ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΩǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ǇǊƻƭƛŦƛŎ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǘǊŀŦŦƛŎƪŜǊǎ.174 IŀǊǇŜǊ ōƻǳƎƘǘ ƻǳǘ .ƻǳǎƘΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƛƴ 

1858 and continued at No. 2 King Street.175 Boush moved Ƙƛǎ ǎǘƻǊŜ ǘƻ bƻΦ о LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ, which was the 

southeast Irwin warehouse.176  

The Irwin heirs allowed agents to do the collection of wharfage and dockage fees. Andrew J. Fleming 

acted in this capacity in the late 1830s, John Howard collected these fees to pay his rent of the wharf 

from 1844-1845, and J. L. Pascoe was empowered as an agent by John E. Carey, husband of Ann Carey, 

in 1848.177 Contemporary maps ƛƭƭǳǎǘǊŀǘŜ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŘƻŎƪ όImage 

27, Image 28).  

The 1850 Tax Assessment showed some long-term occupants remained: Charles C. Smoot occupied 

aŀǊȅ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ŀƴŘ {ǘŜǇƘŜƴ {Ƙƛƴƴ ϧ {ƻƴ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ǎƻǳǘƘǿŜǎǘ 

 
170 Arlington Chancery, George O. Dixion ETC vs. William H. Irwin, 1850-003. ¢ƘŜ άǎƘŀƴǘŜŜέ ǎƘƻǿƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Ǉƭŀǘ ǿŀǎ 
only present for a short time, fewer than five years. John Howard built it at the behest of William H. Irwin but it 
was removed by the time he gave his deposition in 1846.  
171 ADB N3:164, April 21, 1852. 
172 ADB D3:377, September 20, 1843. 
173 ADB 13:331, December 24, 1847. 
174 WƻƘƴ !ǊƳŦƛŜƭŘΣ ά!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ ŀƴŘ bŜǿ hǊƭŜŀƴǎ tŀŎƪŜǘǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, July 29, 1835, GenealogyBank. 
175 WΦ bŜǿǘƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊ ŀƴŘ bŀǘƘŀƴƛŜƭ .ƻǳǎƘΣ άIŀǊǇŜǊ ϧ .ƻǳǎƘΣέ Alexandria Gazette, March 7, 1854; J. Newton 
Harper, Alexandria Gazette, April 1, 1858, GenealogyBank. For more on Boush, Armfield and the slave trade, see 
.ŜƴƧŀƳƛƴ !Φ {ƪƻƭƴƛƪΣ ά.ǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ IƛǎǘƻǊȅΣ момр 5ǳƪŜ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀέ ό!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΥ 
Office of Historic Alexandria, January 2021), Alexandria Archaeology, https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/historic/info/archaeology/1315dukestbuildinghistoryskolnik2021.pdf. 
176 bŀǘƘŀƴƛŜƭ .ƻǳǎƘΣ άW¦{¢ w9/9L±95Σέ Alexandria GazetteΣ aŀǊŎƘ моΣ муруΤ bŀǘƘŀƴƛŜƭ .ƻǳǎƘΣ άDwh/9wL9{Σέ 
Alexandria Gazette, June 24, 1865, GenealogyBank. 
177 Arlington Chancery, George O. Dixion ETC vs. William H. Irwin, 1850-ллоΤ ά!ǳǘƘƻǊƛȊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ WΦ [Φ tŀǎŎƻŜΣ 
WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нтΣ мупуΣέ LǊǿƛƴ CŀƳƛƭȅ tŀǇŜǊǎΣ DŀŘǎōȅΩǎ Tavern Museum, Alexandria, VA.  

https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/historic/info/archaeology/1315dukestbuildinghistoryskolnik2021.pdf
https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/historic/info/archaeology/1315dukestbuildinghistoryskolnik2021.pdf
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warehouse. George O. Dixion and John Dixion still owned and occupied the northeast warehouse. More 

recent occupants included John L. Pascoe and Charles Pascoe in ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ŎŜƴǘŜǊ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ and 

/ƘŀǊƭŜǎ ²ƛƭǎƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǘŜ !ƴƴ /ŀǊŜȅΩǎ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ. Wilson was from Frederick, Maryland, and 

established himself in Alexandria in July 1847. He first occupied the center warehouse on Union Street, 

but moved to the southeast warehouse at some point between 1847 and 1850.178 

H. K. Bradshaw of Alexandria was retained by Thomas Irwin and James Carey to repair the wharf and 

pier in 1852. ¢ƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ ǊŜǎǘǊƛŎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇƛŜǊΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜȅ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ άǇƛƭŜ ƻǊ ōǊƛŘƎŜ ǇŀǊǘέ that 

ǿŀǎ рнΩ ōȅ мллΦΩ They removed the existing deck and cut the salvageable piles down to consistent 

heights, with the eastern piles being four inches higher than the western. 12έ x 16έ caps were tenoned 

ƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘŜǊƴ ǇƛƭŜǎ ŀƴŘ мнέ Ȅ мнέ ŎŀǇǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǎǘŜǊƴ ǎƛŘŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ŜŘƎŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŜƴŎƭƻǎŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ мнέ Ȅ мрέ 

stringers ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦƭƻƻǊ ǘƛƳōŜǊǎ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜŘ пέ Ȅ мнέ: these were made of Georgia pine. White Oak 

mooring posts were placed at appropriate intervals ŀƴŘ άŦŜƴŘŜǊ ǇƛƭŜǎέ ǿŜǊŜ ǇƭŀŎŜŘ млΩ ŀǇŀǊǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 

north and south sides of the pier. Three fender piles were placed at each corner. They signed the 

contract in January and the work was completed by June after the arrival of the Georgia pine.179 The 

expenses for the repairs, $1,938.76 including the extra piles and repairs beyond the $1,800 contract 

price, was divided proportionate to their shares among James & Thomas Carey (1/2), Hannah Wilson 

(1/6), Thomas Irwin Jr. (1/6), and Mary Irwin (1/6).  

Over the following decade, the Irwin heirs transferred partial shares to the wharf and some of the 

ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜǎΦ IŀƴƴŀƘ ²ƛƭǎƻƴ ŀƴŘ aŀǊȅ LǊǿƛƴ ōƻǳƎƘǘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ /ŀǊŜȅΩǎ ѻ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦ ŀƴŘ Ѿ 

 share of the center warehouse in 1854.180 aŀǊȅ LǊǿƛƴ ōƻǳƎƘǘ WŀƳŜǎ /ŀǊŜȅΩǎ ¼ share of the wharf and ½ 

share of the southeast warehouse in 1862.181 The Dixions, who owned the northeast warehouse, 

partitioned their real estate in 1855, with George O. Dixion taking full ownership of the warehouse.182 

Parcel 51.2 

aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мулл-1817 
Jonathan Swift purchased this segment of the waterfront in 1796 with a three-story brick warehouse 

fronting on Union Street (see above). Swift was a merchant and land broker in Alexandria who was 

active in local civic organizations, the Presbyterian church, and Swiss consul.183 In 1800, he leased the 

vacant area to the east of the warehouse, along with the pier and associated docks and dockheads, 

ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦ ¢ƘŜ ƭŜǎǎŜŜΣ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IƻŘƎǎƻƴΣ ƴŜƎƻǘƛŀǘŜŘ ŀ ŘŜŀƭ ǿƛǘƘ {ǿƛŦǘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀƭƭ 

tenants of the warehouse would exclǳǎƛǾŜƭȅ ǳǎŜ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ ǘƘǳǎ IƻŘƎǎƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘ ǘƘŜƛǊ 

wharfage fees.184 Swift offered Lisbon salt for sale from the sloop Mary, docked at this wharf, in 1801.185 

! ƭƻǘ ŦǊƻƴǘƛƴƎ ƻƴ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŀƭƭŜȅ ǿŀǎ offered for rent in December 1801.186 

 
178 /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ άtǊƻŘǳŎŜ ŀƴŘ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ .ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, July 2, 1847, GenealogyBank. 
179 ά!ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ сΣ мурнΣέ LǊǿƛƴ CŀƳƛƭȅ tŀǇŜǊǎΣ DŀŘǎōȅΩǎ Tavern Museum.  
180 ADB Q3:130, May 29, 1854. 
181 ADB V3:43, February 24, 1862. 
182 ADB R3:509, January 1, 1855. 
183 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά{ǿƛŦǘΣ WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ.έ 
184 Alex. O:219, November 10, 1800.  
185 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IƻŘƎǎƻƴΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, April 2, 1801, GenealogyBank. 
186 WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ {ǿƛŦǘΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, December 8, 1801, GenealogyBank. 
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The brick warehouse occupant in 1801 was William James Hall. His lease excluded the sail loft that 

extended over this building and the adjacent two-story wooden warehouse.187 Hall took out an 

insurance policy in 1805 on the brick warehouse which shows two wood structures on the parcel: a two-

story wooden warehouse on the south edge of the parcel and a one-story wooden shed along the north 

line (Image 29). Hall was a merchant who operated in Alexandria since at least 1794 and owned a store 

on Prince StreeǘΦ CǊƻƳ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ ƘŜ ǎƻƭŘ ǿƛƴŜ, salt, potatoes, and rum and chartered vessels 

(Image 30).188 Alexander Henderson & Co. leased one of the wooden warehouses ƻƴ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ 

ŀǎ ŜŀǊƭȅ ŀǎ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ мулмΣ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊ ǘƘŜȅ ƻŦǘŜƴ ŀŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜŘ ǎƘƛǇǎ ƭŀȅƛƴƎ ŀǘ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ rather than 

aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦ189 They advertised a warehouse ƻƴ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ for rent in July 1803.190  

William Sanford leased the sail loft beginning in 1802.191  

The wharf, warehouse and loft were available to new tenants in 1810 (Image 31). The 1810 tax 

assessment lists Daniel McPherson Jr. as a tenant. McPherson was likely the son of Daniel McPherson, 

who operated a merchant store on Prince and Union in the late 1780s.192 Joseph Rowen opened his 

άbŜǿ /ƻǊŘŀƎŜ {ǘƻǊŜέ ƻƴ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ aŀȅ мумлΣ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊŜ ŦƻǊƳŜǊƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ¦ƴƛǘŜŘ 

States government as an office of inspection. He sold cordage made by John Chalmers, a supplier of the 

federal government.193 Lawrason & Fowle, whose warehouse and store south of Prince Street burned in 

a devastating waterfront fire in September 1810, occupied a warehouse here while they rebuilt.194 

5ŀƴƛŜƭ aŎ5ƻǳƎŀƭƭΣ ŀ ǎŀƛƭƳŀƪŜǊ ǿƘƻ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŦǘ ŀōƻǾŜ CƛǘȊƎŜǊŀƭŘΩǎκLǊǿƛƴΩǎ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ŀǘ 

the corner of Union and King, moved into this loft in 1811 (Image 32). John Gird & Isaac Entwisle, 

merchant partners, occupied space on the wharf and secured a debt for Jonathan Swift from 1813 

through 1815.195 

Swift used the lot and buildings as security for debt in 1813. In October 1815, Jonathan Janney and 

Phineas Janney purchased the lot, wharf, and pier for $30,000.196 Even under new ownership, 

aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǊŜǘŀƛƴŜŘ ƛǘs familiar moniker for a few years. John Janney & Co. offered wine, sugar, 

molasses, and cacao ŀǘ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ мумтΦ At the same time, they offered sugar from another 

ǎŎƘƻƻƴŜǊ ŘƻŎƪŜŘ ŀǘ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ όImage 33). Barnewell & Popham sold teas, filberts, sweet oil, mould 

 
187 ADB A:218, January 8, 1801.  
188 Miller, Artisans and Merchants, ǎΦǾΦ άIŀƭƭΣ ²ƳΦ W.έ 
189 !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ IŜƴŘŜǊǎƻƴ ϧ /ƻΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, February 14, 1801; Alexander Henderson & 
/ƻΣ ά[ŀƴŘƛƴƎΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, May 3, 1802, GenealogyBank. 
190 !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ IŜƴŘŜǊǎƻƴ ϧ /ƻΣ άWǳǎǘ !ǊǊƛǾŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ [ƛǎōƻƴΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, July 13, 1803, 
GenealogyBank. 
191 ADB C:493, August 13, 1802. 
192 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άaŎtƘŜǊǎƻƴΣ 5ŀƴƛŜƭ & IsaacΦέ 
193 WƻǎŜǇƘ wƻǿŜƴΣ άbŜǿ /ƻǊŘŀƎŜ {ǘƻǊŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette, Commercial & Political, May 16, 1810, 
GenealogyBank. 
194 [ŀǿǊŀǎƻƴ ϧ CƻǿƭŜΣ ά[ŀǿǊŀǎƻƴ ϧ CƻǿƭŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette, Commercial & Political, October 2, 1810, 
GenealogyBank. 
195 ADB X:23, March 19, 1813; ADB Z:236, August 3, 1815; Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άDƛǊŘΣ WƻƘƴΦέ 
196 ADB Y:94, September 24, 1813; ADB Z:331, October 10, 1815. ¢ƘŜ ŘŜŜŘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŀ пΩ ǎǘǊƛǇ ƻŦ ƭŀƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ 
ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ мнΩ ŀƭƭŜȅ that existed along the south edge of this parcel.  
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candles, and mess pork here.197 Lƴ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ŘƛǎŎƻǳǊǎŜΣ ǘƘƛǎ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ŎŀƳŜ ǘƻ ōŜ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ 

however Phineas Janney ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ƛǘ ŀǎ άaŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦέ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ мурн ƭŀǎǘ ǿƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ǘŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘΦ198  

WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мумр-1899 
The Quaker Janney family had extensive branches throughout northern Virginia and Maryland, though 

their ancestry was rooted in Pennsylvania. The owners of this wharf, Jonathan and Phineas, were 

aligned financially in multiple partnerships and in sole businesses that focused primarily on merchant 

activity.  

Jonathan Janney (1765-1823) married Elizabeth Hopkins and then Ann Shoemaker. He was the treasurer 

of the Alexandria Monthly Meeting in 1802; his sister was philanthropist WƻƘƴǎ IƻǇƪƛƴǎΩ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΦ Besides 

his activities in Alexandria, he owned a country estate in Prince William County, Virginia, called Swann 

Point on the south side of Occoquan Creek. He had four surviving children, Joseph, Elizabeth, Samuel, 

and John Jr.199 

Phineas Janney (1778-1852) was born in Loudoun County, ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀ ƛƴ мтту ŀƴŘ ǿƻǊƪŜŘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ 

country store until he removed to Alexandria to work as a clerk. He married Ruth Lupton of Frederick 

County, Virginia, in 1799, which was likely around the time he relocated to Alexandria. They were 

charter members of the Alexandria Monthly Meeting in 1802, but Ruth died in 1804 and the couple had 

no surviving children. After the Embargo ended, Phineas traveled to Sweden as a supercargo, or 

shipping agent, and was abroad for two years managing sales of American cargos and selecting goods to 

send back to Virginia (Image 34). He returned to Alexandria and married Sarah Hartshorne, daughter of 

William Hartshorne, a well-known Quaker merchant in town, in 1811. Phineas and Sarah had no 

children, but they remained active in the Quaker meeting.200 ¢ƘŜȅ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ άǳǇǇŜǊ ŜƴŘέ of King 

Street, about ten blocks west of the wharf.201  

Jonathan and Phineas Janney did business as partners, had business arrangements with other partners, 

and operated as individuals. These varied and changing arrangements make it hard to understand 

exactly what their business entailed or why they chose to operate together in one circumstance versus 

operating individually in another. For example, it is not known why they chose to purchase this wharf 

and lot together, though we can assume it was due to a lack of capital for each individually. Or perhaps 

the elder Jonathan saw an opportunity to own a wharf and sought a younger partner who also stood to 

benefit from the arrangement. In any case, the JanneyΩǎ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŜŘ ŀ ǿƛŘŜ ǊŀƴƎŜ ƻŦ ƎƻƻŘǎΣ ǘƘƻǳƎƘ 

Phineas was best known for Swedish steel and wine, owned shares of ships and cargos, bank stock, and 

other real estate.  

 
197 .ŀǊƴŜǿŜƭƭ ϧ tƻǇƘŀƳΣ άCǊŜǎƘ ¢Ŝŀǎ ϧŎΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, September 12, 1817, 
GenealogyBank. 
198 Phineas Janney, Last Will and Testament, October 6, 1852, Alexandria Will Book (AWB) 6:128, FamilySearch. 
199 John Janney, Last Will and Testament, 1823, FWB N1:145; Encyclopedia of American Quaker Genealogy, 
Ancestry.com. 
200 CǊƛŜƴŘǎΩ Intelligencer (Philadelphia, Pa.: Wm. W. Moore, 1854); άtƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣέ genealogical record, 
Ancestry.com, accessed September 30, 2021, https://www.ancestry.com/family-
tree/person/tree/111658610/person/360087738480/facts; Encyclopedia of American Quaker Genealogy, 
Ancestry.com. WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ship, Century, returned to Alexandria on July 18, 1811 and he married Sarah Hartshorne on 
November 28 of that year. 
201 IƻǊŀŎŜ CƛŜƭŘΣ άCƻǊ {ŀƭŜ ƻǊ wŜƴǘΣέ Alexandria Herald, March 11, 1812, GenealogyBank. 

https://www.ancestry.com/family-tree/person/tree/111658610/person/360087738480/facts
https://www.ancestry.com/family-tree/person/tree/111658610/person/360087738480/facts
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The warehouse complex on WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ŎŀǳƎƘǘ ŦƛǊŜ ƻƴ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нрΣ мумфΦ hƴŜ ōǊƛŎƪ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ǿŀǎ 

destroyed, along with the sails in the loftΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜ ƻǘƘŜǊǎ ǿŜǊŜ άŦƛǊŜ ǎŀŦŜέ ŀƴŘ ǿŜǊŜ ƴƻǘ ǎŜǊƛƻǳǎƭȅ 

damaged (Image 35). Within days, the broker for the Fire Insurance Company of Alexandria sought 

estimates from builders to replace the ruined structure.202 They likely completed the reconstruction of 

the warehouse within a year. Jonathan Janney sought tenants for his олΩ Ȅ фсΩ warehouse, including two 

counting rooms, in full or in part in April 1819.203  

In 1820, the occupants of the wharf and warehouses included merchants and sail loft proprietors. 

Thomas V. Huck was WƻƘƴ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ǇŀǊǘƴŜǊ in John Janney & Co. until 1818 when Huck took 

over sole operation.204 Newton Keene (Keane) operated a sail loft in one of the fire safe warehouses in 

January 1819, and continued there after the fire. Israel Janney owned the Phoenix Mill, formerly 

IŀǊǘǎƘƻǊƴŜΩǎ ƳƛƭƭΣ located about 2 miles outside of town where he milled wheat, rye, and plaster.205 In 

1818, he rented a store on the Duke Street wharf, likely in the public warehouse, as his base in town to 

send and receive ƎǊŀƛƴ ŀƴŘ ŦƭƻǳǊΦ .ȅ мунлΣ ǘƘƻǳƎƘΣ ƘŜ ƳƻǾŜŘ ǘƻ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ where he offered shad, 

family flour, apple cider vinegar, and plaster by the ton.206 Peter Loggins was a tenant in 1820.  

In 1823, Jonathan Janney died and left his estate to be divided among his children. Though the partition 

documents are unavailable, his daughter Elizabeth became the owner of his half share of the wharf 

lot.207 Elizabeth entrusted her brothers and Phineas Janney to manage her share.208 She moved with her 

family to Loudoun County in 1839.209  

Stephen Shinn was an Englishman and wholesale grocer who operated as part of numerous corporations 

in Alexandria. He ǿŀǎ ŀ ƳŜƳōŜǊ ƻŦ {ǘΦ tŀǳƭΩǎ 9ǇƛǎŎƻǇŀƭ /ƘǳǊŎƘ and ranked among the elite merchants in 

town during the Antebellum era. Shinn rented the northern warehouse that fronted on WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ 

for decades, beginning in 1828 and remaining until the Civil War as Stephen Shinn & Son.210 S. Shinn & 

Son offered fresh corn meal from the first delivery of the Orange & Alexandria Railroad on May 30, 1851 

(Image 36). 

Clagett & Page were wholesale and retail merchants who started their partnership in Alexandria in 1824. 

Their office was on King Street near Fairfax, but they rented warehouse space on JanneyΩǎ Wharf for 

 
202 WΦ .Φ bƛŎƪƻƭƭǎΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜ ǘƻ .ǳƛƭŘŜǊǎΦΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, February 1, 1819, GenealogyBank. 
203 WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ άCƻǊ wŜƴǘΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, April 1, 1819, GenealogyBank. 
204 WƻƘƴ WŀƴƴŜȅ ŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ±Φ IǳŎƪΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, September 17, 1818, 
GenealogyBank. 
205 The Phoenix Mill building still standsΦ {ŜŜ wΦ /ƘǊƛǎǘƻǇƘŜǊ DƻƻŘǿƛƴ ϧ !ǎǎƻŎΦΣ άtƘƻŜƴƛȄ aƛƭƭΥ оспл ²ƘŜŜƭŜǊ 
!ǾŜƴǳŜΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΣέ Siena Corporation, 2017, https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-
archives/historic/info/archaeology/summarywilliams3640wheeler2017.pdf.  
206 LǎǊŀŜƭ WŀƴƴŜȅ WǊΦΣ άLǎǊŀŜƭ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ WǊΦΣέ Alexandria Gazette, June 15, 1821, GenealogyBank. 
207 Marriage Settlement for Elizabeth Janney and Samuel M. Janney, ADB P2:348, March 3, 1826. Elizabeth Janney 
did not have to change her last name when she married. 
208 March 3, 1826, Ref. ADB R2:52, June 25, 1828.  
209 Baltimore Yearly Meeting Minutes, US Quaker Meeting Records, 1681-1935, Ancestry.com, 
https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-
00046?pId=1107287585.  
210 IŀǊƻƭŘ ²Φ IǳǊǎǘΣ ά¢ƘŜ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘǎ ƻŦ tǊŜ-/ƛǾƛƭ ²ŀǊ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΥ ! 5ȅƴŀƳƛŎ 9ƭƛǘŜ ƛƴ ŀ tǊƻƎǊŜǎǎƛǾŜ /ƛǘȅΣέ Records of 
the Columbia Historical Society, Washington, D.C. 52 (1989): 327ς43; Alexandria Tax Records for 1830, 1840, and 
1850 on file at Alexandria ArchaeologyΤ {ǘŜǇƘŜƴ {ƘƛƴƴΣ άCƻǊ {ǘΦ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎΣέ Phenix Gazette, March 10, 1828, 
GenealogyBank. 

https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/historic/info/archaeology/summarywilliams3640wheeler2017.pdf
https://media.alexandriava.gov/docs-archives/historic/info/archaeology/summarywilliams3640wheeler2017.pdf
https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-00046?pId=1107287585
https://www.ancestry.com/imageviewer/collections/2189/images/43154_1821100519_4932-00046?pId=1107287585
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several years.211 The 1834 city directory lists the many distinct operations of the Janney family and their 

approximate locations: S. M. & S. H. Janney, Merchants, King near Union; Jonathan Janney, Flour 

ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΣ tƻǘƻƳŀŎ {ǘǊŀƴŘΤ tƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΣ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΤ WƻƘƴ ϧ WƻǎŜǇƘ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ CƭƻǳǊ 

MerchantsΣ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΤ ώ!ōƛƧŀƘϐ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ CƭƻǳǊ LƴǎǇŜŎǘƻǊ, Duke near Columbia; and Rebecca Janney, 

Dress maker, corner of Patrick and Prince.212 Thomas & Dyer established their commission partnership 

ƻƴ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ мупп ŀƴŘ ǊŜƳŀƛƴŜŘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ ŘŜŎŀŘŜ (Image 37).213   

James Dempsey occupied part of the warehouses since at least 1840 as a merchant. He worked for 

tƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅ ŀǎ ŀ ŎƭŜǊƪ ŦƻǊ ǎƻƳŜ ǘƛƳŜΣ ǳƭǘƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ ǊǳƴƴƛƴƎ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ƛǊƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǿƛƴŜ operation 

throughout the 1840s. When Phineas Janney retired from business life, he named Dempsey his 

successor ŀƴŘ 5ŜƳǇǎŜȅ ǘƻƻƪ ƻǾŜǊ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ άaŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦέ214 Phineas Janney died in 

1852, leaving his half of the wharf, warehouses, and lot to the children of his nephew, Samuel M. 

Janney, who was married to Elizabeth Janney. Elizabeth inherited the other half of this property from 

her father, Jonathan Janney (see above). Their four children, John (b. 1827), Cornelia (1833-1922), Mary 

Ann (b. 1837), and Phineas (1842-1914) were to receive equal shares except Phineas, who received a 

double portion.215  

WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǿŀǎ ŦƻǊ Ƴŀƴȅ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀ ǎǘŜŀƳ ǇŀŎƪŜǘ ŘŜǇƻǘΦ Lƴ муолΣ .Ŝƴƻƴƛ ²ƘŜŀǘ ŀŎǘŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŀƎŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ 

the Steamboat lines connecting Baltimore and Washington, D.C. Two steam packets, Fredericksburg and 

Franklin, carried freight and passengers.216 In 1852, the steamship Phenix provided daily ferry service 

ŦǊƻƳ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ Wharf to Washington, D.C.217 A decade later, the steamship Planter provided passenger 

ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ Wharf and Baltimore.218  

Contemporary maps ƛƭƭǳǎǘǊŀǘŜ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ƭŀōŜƭǎ (Image 27). This pier appears to match 

LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ƛƴ ǎƛȊŜ in 1838 and in 1845 (Image 28).  

Parcels 56.1 and 56.2 

±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мтфс-1854 
English brothers and business partners John Crips Vowell and Thomas Vowell consolidated two lots, 

Parcels 56.1 and 56.2 in this study, to create a warehouse block and wharf.219 Thomas Vowell previously 

 
211 /ƭŀƎŜǘǘ ϧ tŀƎŜΣ άbŜǿ ²ƘƻƭŜǎŀƭŜ ŀƴŘ wŜǘŀƛƭ DǊƻŎŜǊȅ {ǘƻǊŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Advertiser, May 13, 1824, 
GenealogyBank; Alexandria Tax Records for 1830, on file at Alexandria Archaeology.  
212 E. A. Cohen & Company., A Full Directory for Washington City, Georgetown, and Alexandria (Washington City 
[i.e., Washington, D.C.]; (Washington): E.A. Cohen & Co.; (Wm. Greer), 1834), 10-11. 
213 1840 Occupants: Joshua Grady [he shows up in a post office list in 1833/34 but otherwise nothing; 1850 Census 
says he is 46 and a butcher, living alone, born in Virginia and illiterate]. 1850 Occupants: J. H. Grubb was a 26 y/o 
ƳŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ŎƭŜǊƪ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ мурл ¦{ /ŜƴǎǳǎΦ 
214 tƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ άtƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣέ Alexandria Gazette, January 1, 1849, GenealogyBank; Alexandria Land Tax 
Records from 1840 and 1850, on file at Alexandria Archaeology.  
215 Phineas Janney, Last Will and Testament, October 6, 1852, AWB 6:128, FamilySearch. WŀƳŜǎ 5ŜƳǇǎŜȅΩǎ ǎƻƴΣ 
Phineas Janney Dempsey, received 20 shares of C&O Canal Company stock from Janney. Janney took the unusual 
step to order his executors to pay James Dempsey to act as clerk for the estate. Lƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻŘƛŎƛƭΣ WŀƴƴŜȅ ǿǊƻǘŜΣ άI 
desire and direct that my executrix and executors be lenient in the collection of the debt due to me from James 
5ŜƳǇǎŜȅΦέ 
216 .Ŝƴƻƴƛ ²ƘŜŀǘΣ ά{ǘŜŀƳōƻŀǘ [ƛƴŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, February 27, 1830, GenealogyBank. 
217 Alexandria Gazette, April 27, 1852. 
218 Alexandria Gazette, August 15, 1862. 
219 Alex. G:499, September 9, 1796; Alex. K:329, March 2, 1798. 
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rented a store and ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ όǎŜŜ ŀōƻǾŜύ. Parcel 56.1 was vacant in 1796 and Parcel 

56.2 had a wooden warehouse built by Robert Mease. Insurance records for the adjacent parcel show a 

two-story brick warehouse on Parcel 56.1 by 1805 (Image 29). The Vowell brothers married Harper 

sisters: Thomas wed Mary Ann Harper in 1794 and John married Margaret Harper in 1795.220  

The wharf and dock were active sites of import and export during the early part of the nineteenth 

century. !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ IŜƴŘŜǊǎƻƴ ϧ /ƻ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ŀ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ aŜǊŎƘŀƴǘΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ ŀŘƧŀŎŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘΣ 

ōǳǘ ƭŀƴŘŜŘ ŎŀǊƎƻǎ ƻŦ ǎŀƭǘΣ ŦƛǎƘΣ ƭŜƳƻƴǎΣ ƻǊŀƴƎŜǎΣ ǎƻŀǇΣ ŎƘƻŎƻƭŀǘŜΣ ǿƛƴŘƻǿ Ǝƭŀǎǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻŦŦŜŜ ƻƴ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ 

Wharf in 1802.221 A handling error resulted in a lost keg of sprigs that were landed here and consigned 

to Libby, Carne & Slade.222 

John & Thomas Vowell continued to run their merchant business from the brick warehouse on Parcel 

56.1. The other occupants in 1810 included Daniel McLeod and William Garner. McLeod was a painter 

who was active in Alexandria since 1796 and had previously worked from stores on Pitt Street and then 

King Street. He formerly worked in partnership with John Lumsdon, however that relationship dissolved 

in 1806.223 Garner, an Englishman, occupied a tenement behind the brick warehouse on Parcel 56.1 as a 

grocer who offered various liquors, pork, potatoes, cheese and groceries at his store (Image 38, Image 

39). Garner moved to Cameron Street by 1816, however he used the tenement and lot he occupied near 

Vowell's Wharf and an enslaved man named John as security for a debt in 1817. He continued to land 

cargoes, such as 160 dozen bottles of Philadelphia Cider, on this wharf.224 

In July 1812 John & Thomas Vowell were preparing to build a brick warehouse on Parcel 56.2. Jane 

Slacum, their neighbor to the south, owned a dilapidated wooden warehouse that sat on the property 

ƭƛƴŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ±ƻǿŜƭƭǎ ŘŜǎƛǊŜŘ ŀ пΩ ŀƭƭŜȅ between their new building and the building that would replace 

{ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ ǊǳƛƴŜŘ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ǎƻ ǘhey agreed with Jane Slacum to reserve space between their buildings.225 

A brick house stood on Parcel 56.2 in 1815 (Image 50). 

In 1815, Daniel Somers sold ǎŀƭǘΣ ŎƻŦŦŜŜΣ ŀƴŘ ǎǳƎŀǊ ƻƴ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƭŀǘŜƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ 

McLean & Somers (Image 40). John Jackson & Co. sold ǎǳƎŀǊ ƛƴ ŦǊƻƴǘ ƻŦ 5ŀƴƛŜƭ {ƻƳŜǊǎΩ ǎǘƻǊŜ in 1818 

(Image 41). Somers was a tenant through at least 1820. Samuel Messersmith was a long-term tenant of 

the brick store with a slate roof. From 1818, he imported a wide range of goods including food, wines 

and liquors, and household supplies. 5ŜǎǇƛǘŜ Ƙƛǎ ƭƻŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ aŜǎǎŜǊǎƳƛǘƘ ǎƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ 

landed cargoes ƛƴ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǇƭŀŎŜǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŀǘŜǊŦǊƻƴǘΣ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ LǊǿƛƴΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ мумф όImage 42). In 1820, the 

warehouse where Daniel Somers and Samuel Messersmith kept their counting rooms was burglarized by 

 
220 Dodd, Jordan, ed., Virginia Marriages, 1660-1800, Ancestry.com. Unfortunately, the Harper sisters died 
relatively young, Mary Ann in 1805 and Margaret in 1806. Both men remarried.  
221 !ƭŜȄŀƴŘŜǊ IŜƴŘŜǊǎƻƴ ϧ /ƻΣ ά[ŀƴŘƛƴƎΣέ Times; and District of Columbia Daily Advertiser, May 3, 1802, 
GenealogyBank. 
222 aŎ/ƭŜŀƴ ϧ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōŜǊȅΣ ά[h{¢Σέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, August 25, 1804, GenealogyBank. Sprigs are small, 
headless nails.  
223 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾǾΦ άaŎ[ŜƻŘΣ 5ŀƴƛŜƭΣέ άMacLeod & LumsdonΦέ 
224 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άDŀǊƴŜǊΣ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳΤέ ADB F2:109, July 18, 1817; ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ DŀǊƴŜǊΣ ά.ƻǘǘƭŜŘ 
/ƛŘŜǊΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily Advertiser, September 5, 1817, GenealogyBank. William Garner had an ordinary 
license in Alexandria from 1809-1814, but it is unknown where his tavern was located. He moved to Baltimore, MD 
in 1818 to run a tavern there. He died in 1819 aged 38 years and was buried in the Presbyterian Cemetery in 
Alexandria, https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/23318508/william-garner.   
225 ADB W:205, July 30, 1812. WŀƴŜ {ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ ǿƻƻŘ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƛǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ ƎƻƴŜ ǘƻ ǊǳƛƴΦ  

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/23318508/william-garner
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someone who hid inside and, once everyone left, used a hatchet to pry open locked drawers (Image 43). 

Messersmith continued to occupy the warehouse until his death in 1840.226 

John C. Vowell and Thomas Vowell placed an ad in the newspaper in January 1819 tƻ ǘƘŀƴƪ ǘƘŜ άŎƛǘƛȊŜƴǎ 

ƻŦ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀέ ŦƻǊ ǎŀǾƛƴƎ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊŜ ǘƘŀǘ ŘŜǎǘǊƻȅŜŘ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ WŀƴƴŜȅΩǎ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 

north (Image 45).227 Concurrently, the Vowells ended their copartnership in January 1819, leaving their 

books and business in the hands of John Douglass & Co (Image 44). John Douglass & Co was a 

partnership of John Douglass and Thomas Vowell. One year later, they rebranded themselves as Thomas 

Vowell & John Douglass, Flour and Grain factors.228 In July 1826 Thomas Vowell used his half share of the 

wharf and lot as security for debt.229 He failed to repay, and his share was sold at public auction to 

Mordecai Miller for $5,030 (Image 46).230  

Though the ownership of the wharf changed slightly, many merchants ƻǇŜǊŀǘŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ 

the 1820s-1840s. Some of these were: Jonathan & Thomas Vowell, Ephraim Corning, James & Joseph 

Harper, Leonard Corning, Robinson & Shinn, Harris & Chamberlain and Benjamin T. Fendall.231 Fleming & 

McVeigh operated from the house formerly occupied by Fleming & Chamberlain on Vowell's Wharf 

selling sugars, coffee, tea, cider, and vinegar. They notified the public: "Being fully convinced of the 

great evil resulting from the use of ardent spirits, we have determined on abstaining the sale of 

them..."232 [ƛƴŎƻƭƴ /ƘŀƳōŜǊƭŀƛƴ ǎƻƭŘ ƎǊƻŎŜǊƛŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ муопΦ233 

Mordecai Miller died and his 1833 will resulted in his son John S. Miller inheriting the half share of 

±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦ234 /ƻƴǘŜƳǇƻǊŀǊȅ ƳŀǇǎ ǎƘƻǿ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ unlabeled, but evident to the north of the 

Prince Street dock and IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ (Image 27). In the 1845 ǇƭŀƴΣ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛǎ stepped or tiered 

having an irregular front on the dock rather than a flat front (Image 28). JTB Perry occupied the wharf-

fronting warehouse in 1848 when άǘƘŜ ŦƭƻƻǊ ǿŀǎ ǇǊŜǎǎŜŘ Řƻǿƴ ōȅ ŀ ƘŜŀǾȅ ǿŜƛƎƘǘ ƻŦ ǿƘŜŀǘέ ŀƴŘ 

collapsed into the counting room below (Image 47). Lƴ мурлΣ WƻƘƴ /ǊƛǇǎ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ WƻƘƴ {Φ 

Miller owned four houses and the lot with several occupants including JTB Perry and Masters & Son.235 

On a June night in 1854, the watchmen found the warehouses occupied by JTB Perry & Son and DF Hooe 

burning through their shared roof. The adjoining warehouse occupied by SS Masters & Son could not be 

saved, despite a large turnout of the fire brigade and citizens. Flour, guano and groceries were the 

primary articles destroyed, along with some kegs of gunpowder and saltpeter that caused three small 

explosions. aŎ±ŜƛƎƘΩǎ ƴŜǿ ŦƛǊŜǇǊƻƻŦ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ withstood the fire, as did the warehouses 

to the north. One injury was reported, E. S. Hough the Collector of the port, fell and required surgical 

 
226 ±ƻǿŜƭƭΣ WƻƘƴ /ΦΣ άCƻǊ wŜƴǘΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ фΣ мупм, GenealogyBank. 
227 Vowell, John C. and Vowell, Thomas, άA Card,έ Alexandria Herald, January 29, 1819, GenealogyBank. 
228 ±ƻǿŜƭƭΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ŀƴŘ 5ƻǳƎƭŀǎǎΣ WƻƘƴΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜ ϧ 5ŀƛƭȅ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ January 4, 1820, 
GenealogyBank. 
229 ADB Q2:180, July 10, 1826. 
230 ADB Q2:195, July 13, 1827; ADB Q2:503, May 6, 1828. 
231 These tenants appear on tax records from 1820, 1830, and 1840.  
232 !ƴŘǊŜǿ WΦ CƭŜƳƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ bΦ aŎ±ŜƛƎƘΣ άbŜǿ DǊƻŎŜǊȅ {ǘƻǊŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, August 27, 1831, 
GenealogyBank. 
233 [ƛƴŎƻƭƴ /ƘŀƳōŜǊƭŀƛƴΣ ά{ǳƎŀǊΣ .ŜŜŦ ϧŎΣέ Alexandria Gazette, January 4, 1834, GenealogyBank. 
234 ADB U2:450, August 12, 1833; Mordecai Miller, Last Will and Testament, AWB 4:44, April 21, 1832. 
235 1850 Alexandria Real Property Tax, on file at Alexandria Archaeology.  
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aid.236 ¢ƘŜ ƻǿƴŜǊǎΣ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ WƻƘƴ {Φ aƛƭƭŜǊΣ were insured through the Potomac and Fire 

Insurance office. Despite this, the loss must have pushed them into selling off the άextensive WHARF in 

good repair with commodious docks, water privileges &cέ at public auction to Lewis McKenzie later that 

year. The sale of the lot from Union Street to the carriageway now known as the Strand was postponed. 

WƻƘƴ {Φ aƛƭƭŜǊ ǎƻƭŘ ǘƘŜ ƭƻǘΣ ŦǊƻƴǘƛƴƎ ƻƴ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŀƴŘ ǎǘǊŜǘŎƘƛƴƎ ōŀŎƪ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ олΩ ŎŀǊǊƛŀƎŜǿŀȅ όƭŀǘŜǊ 

called The Strand), to Samuel Miller in April 1860.237   

aŎYŜƴȊƛŜΩǎ hȅǎǘŜǊ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ мурп-1881 
After purchasing the wharf parcel at public auction in 1854, Lewis McKenzie immediately used the 

parcel to secure debt.238 He continued to use Long Wharf as his headquarters for his wholesale grocery 

enterprise.239 Lewis McKenzie used the wharf, other real estate outside of Alexandria and stocks to 

secure a debt with the Bank of the Old Dominion in June 1858.240  

Parcel 56.3 
George Slacum purchased the parcel, wharf and pier from Josiah Watson in 1797 for £2214.241 At that 

time the structures included two warehouses fronting on Union Street: a two-story wood warehouse 

and a three-story brick warehouse to the south. A second two-story warehouse adjoined the east side of 

the wood warehouse, but it was taken down in May 1804.242 

Isaac Entwisle, grocery merchant and brewer, occupied space on this parcel from 1804 through 1813. He 

imported beer, bacon, and other foodstuffs and ran a bottling operation at the sign of the Rising Sun 

(Image 48). {ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ƭƻŦǘ ǿŀǎ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ ǎŀƛƭƳŀƪŜǊ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ /ƻƻǇŜǊ ƛƴ мулп (Image 49). This 

was likely the loft of the three-story brick warehouse on the south side of the parcel.  

George Slacum died after the September 1810 fire that destroyed his warehouse on the south side of 

Prince Street (see Duke to Prince report). His wife, Jane Slacum, took over management of his estate 

since their children were all under the age of majority. In July 1812, John & Thomas Vowell planned to 

build a brick warehouse on the adjacent parcel to the north and they agreed with Jane Slacum to 

ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ǎǇŀŎŜ ŦƻǊ ŀ пΩ ŀƭƭŜȅ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜƛǊ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎΦ {ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ ǿƻƻŘŜƴ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎŜ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ 

 
236 ά5ŜǎǘǊǳŎǘƛǾŜ CƛǊŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, June 6, 1854, GenealogyBank. 
237 ADB U3:372, April 16, 1860. 
238 CǊŀƴŎƛǎ [Φ {ƳƛǘƘ ŀƴŘ {ŀƳǳŜƭ aƛƭƭŜǊΣ ά±ŀƭǳŀōƭŜ wŜŀƭ 9ǎǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ ²ƘŀǊŦ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ŦƻǊ {ŀƭŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette, 
August 18, 1854; Alexandria Gazette, October 3, 1854, GenealogyBank; ADB Q3:420, 430, October 2, 1854. The 
newspaper erroneously reported that William N. McVeigh and Thomas & Dyer purchased this parcel at private sale 
in October 1854. ά[h/![ L¢9a{Σέ Alexandria Gazette, October 6, 1854, GenealogyBank. McKenzie paid off his 
debts in 1857, ADB T3:146, November 10, 1857. 
239 Alexandria Gazette, December 14, 1854, GenealogyBank. McKenzie imported Liverpool salt and alum salt on 
this occasion. 
240 ADB T3:147, June 1, 1858; ADB V3:489, March 29, 1864. William N. McVeigh was President of the Bank of the 
Old Dominion in 1858 and registered a deed instead of a deed of trust at that time. George H. Smoot, President of 
the bank in 1864, filed the quitclaim with an agreement describing that the 1858 transaction was security for debt 
and not a sale.  
241 Alex. I:300, March 19, 1797.  
242 Arlington Chancery, Testimony of Philip [James?], Mutual Assurance Society vs. Widow of George Slacum ETC, 
1819-027. 
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άgone much to decay,έ and it was pulled down after this agreement.243 The northern side of this parcel 

was vacant in 1815. The two-story brick store and dwelling occupied by Jonathan Green was insured by 

DŜƻǊƎŜ {ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ on the south side of the parcel (Image 50).244  

Jonathan Green entered a 7-year lease with Jane Slacum for the tenement, dock and wharf in 1818. He 

retained the right to build a new structure on the north side of the parcel.245 Green maintained a license 

to keep an ordinary from 1814-1820 and he occasionally offered goods, such as cheese, for sale. He 

chartered ships for regional transport of goods and passengers, including the schooner Emeline which 

docked at .ŀȅƴŜΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ, adjacent to this parcel on the south (Image 51).246 Green likely occupied this 

parcel until 1823. 

The insurance policy from 1823 shows that Jane Slacum had a one-story wood warehouse on the 

northern side of the parcel. The three-story brick store and dwelling house with a two-story brick store 

at the rear was occupied by Margaret Garner (Image 52).247 Garner was a dry goods merchant who ran 

several different bath houses and public houses in Alexandria from 1820-1845. She relocated and sold 

all her personal belongings and stock in trade several times. In 1828, she sold all her άƘƻǳǎŜƘƻƭŘ ϧ 

ƪƛǘŎƘŜƴ ŦǳǊƴƛǘǳǊŜΣ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ōŜŘǎΣ ōŜŘŘƛƴƎΣ ǘŀōƭŜǎΣ ŎƘŀƛǊǎ ϧŎέ ŦǊƻƳ her residence on Union Street.248 

In 1832, she sold off her stock in trade from her dry goods store near Royal and King due to her 

intention to move north.249 However, she remained in Alexandria as the 1839 insurance policies describe 

Margaret Garner as the occupant of a three-story brick dwelling and shop with a shed of wood on the 

north side at the rear of the building (Image 53). A two-story brick shop stood behind and fronted on the 

dock and wharf.250 Garner died in Alexandria in 1847.251 WŀƴŜ {ƭŀŎǳƳΩǎ 1846 insurance policy described a 

three-story brick dwelling and tavern (Image 54).252 No occupant was listed in 1846, however the 1850 

tax assessment shows Ephraim Cheser and Edward Ware as tenants.  

The Slacum-owned dwelling was removed along with its outbuildings to make room for two new 

warehouses which were finished in the spring of 1852. .ǳƛƭǘ ƻŦ ōǊƛŎƪ ǿƛǘƘ άŀƴ ƛǊƻƴ ƎǊŀǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƴǘΣ ǿƛǘƘ ŀƭƭ 

the modern improvementsΣέ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜŘ ōȅ DŜƻǊƎŜ ŀƴŘ William Davis (carpenters) and 

Henderson & Bro. (bricklayers).253 William N. McVeigh ordered the construction, however he did not 

purchase the parcel until June 1853.254 His insurance policy showed two ноΩ ǿƛŘŜΣ unoccupied three-

 
243 ADB W:205, July 30, 1812. The wood warehouse on the north side of the parcel was taken down on October 20, 
1814 by Charles Norris. Arlington Chancery, Testimony of Charles Norris, Mutual Assurance Society vs. Widow of 
George Slacum ETC, 1819-027. 
244 MAP No. 1902, December 12, 1815. 
245 ADB H2:15, December 5, 1818. 
246 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ άDǊŜŜƴΣ WƻƘƴ;έ WƻƘƴ DǊŜŜƴΣ ά/ƘŜŜǎŜΣέ Alexandria Gazette & Daily 
Advertiser, September 5, 1817, GenealogyBank. 
247 MAP No. 4997, March 31, 1823. 
248 DŜƻǊƎŜ WƻƘƴǎƻƴΣ ά¢Ƙƛǎ 5ŀȅΦ tǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΦΣέ Alexandria Gazette, July 31, 1828, GenealogyBank. 
249 DŜƻǊƎŜ ²ƘƛǘŜΣ ά¢Ƙƛǎ 5ŀȅΣέ Alexandria Gazette, September 18, 1832, GenealogyBank. 
250 MAP No. 11068, June 22, 1839. 
251 ά5ƛŜŘΣέ Alexandria Gazette, December 28, 1847, GenealogyBank. 
252 MAP no. 14326, September 9, 1846. 
253 Alexandria Gazette, April 3, 1852. 
254 ADB P3:174, June 16, 1853. Purchased at public auction for $5,200. McVeigh purchased the lot adjacent to the 
south: 1/3 in 1843 and 2/3 in 1852.  
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story warehouses with tin roofs that extended ммоΩ Ŝŀǎǘ ƻŦ ¦ƴƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŦǊƻƴǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ǘǊŀƴŘΦ255 McVeigh 

offered one of the warehouses for rent in 1856, having been previously occupied by Robinson & 

Payne.256 The same buildings were insured by McVeigh in 1860 and occupied by C. F. Suttler and George 

Robinson.257  

Parcel 56.4 

IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ, 1784-1827 
!ǘ ǘƘŜ ǘǳǊƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎŜƴǘǳǊȅΣ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŀ three-story brick dwelling house (occupied as a 

store) fronting Union Street with an adjacent two-story ōǊƛŎƪ ƪƛǘŎƘŜƴΦ ¢ƻ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ǿŀǎ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ǿƻƻŘŜƴ 

warehouse and the wharf, dock, and pier. Henry & Thomas Moore opened an auction room and 

ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƛƴ άǘƘŀǘ ŎƻƳƳƻŘƛƻǳǎ ƘƻǳǎŜ ƻƴ ¦ƴƛƻƴ {ǘǊŜŜǘ, two doors south of Messrs. John and 

¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ όŀŘƧŀŎŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜȅ ƘŀǾŜ ŀ ƭŀǊƎŜ ǿŀǊŜ ƘƻǳǎŜ ŦǊƻƴǘƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿƘŀǊŦύέ in 1800.258 

This endeavor was short-lived: in 1802 Henry Moore struck out for Kentucky and Thomas Moore 

declared bankruptcy.259  

John Harper died in May 1804 and his will was filed. Robert Harper, who stood to inherit the wharf 

property along with a term enslaved man named Willis and a gold watch, died two months before his 

father at the age of 20. John W. Harper, another son, was next in line to inherit but he also died without 

heirs. His inheritance was split between three siblings: Nancy Harper, James Harper, and Joshua 

Harper.260  

Bayne & Cartwright ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƎǊƻŎŜǊȅ ŀƴŘ ǎƘƛǇ ŎƘŀƴŘƭŜǊȅ ǎǘƻǊŜ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ муло (Image 

55). Their annual rent for the wharf was $333.33.261 Their partnership ended in 1811 after Seth 

Cartwright died. Henry Bayne continued to occupy the wooden house and wharf space until 1820. He 

operated an ordinary at Duke and Water Streets. W.C. Redfield offered butter and cheese for sale at 

.ŀȅƴŜΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ƛƴ !ǇǊƛƭ мунлΦ262  

The 1815 insurance policy taken by Mary Harper and James Harper shows a two-story brick store and 

dwelling occupied by Thomas M. Davis. Behind the store/dwelling was a brick kitchen, and behind that 

was a wooden house (Image 56).263 The 1823 insurance policy describes a three-story brick store & 

 
255 MAP No. 507A, January 4, 1853. 
256 ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ bΦ aŎ±ŜƛƎƘΣ άChw w9b¢Σέ Alexandria Gazette, September 10, 1856, GenealogyBank. 
257 MAP No. 21220, 1860. 
258 IŜƴǊȅ aƻƻǊŜ ŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ aƻƻǊŜΣ ά!ǳŎǘƛƻƴ wƻƻƳ ŀƴŘ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ {ǘƻǊŜΣέ Columbian Mirror and Alexandria 
Gazette, September 16, 1800, !ƳŜǊƛŎŀΩǎ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ bŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊǎΦ 
259 Miller, Artisans and Merchants, ǎΦǾΦ άaƻƻǊŜΣ IŜƴǊȅΣέ άaƻƻǊŜΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎΦέ 
260 άaƻǊǘǳŀǊȅ bƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, March 12, 1804Τ ά5L95Σέ Alexandria Expositor for the Country, 
May 7, 1804, GenealogyBank; WƻƘƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΣ ά[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘέ ό[ŀǎǘ ²ƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ŜǎǘŀƳŜƴǘΣ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ 
Virginia, June 5, 1804), Book B:25, FamilySearch, https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-
NF4X?i=216&cat=279393. See ADB C3:355, February 23, 1843 for details on the chain of inheritance. Nancy Harper 
married Wells Andrews and they moved to Ohio. 
261 Mary HarperΣ άThe Estate of John Harper in Account with Mary Harper Executrixέ ό!ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀΣ ±ƛǊƎƛƴƛŀΣ June 11, 
1805), FamilySearch. 
262 IŜƴǊȅ .ŀȅƴŜΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜΣέ Alexandria Daily Gazette & Advertiser, May 1, 1811; Miller, Artisans and Merchants, 
ǎΦǾǾΦ ά.ŀȅƴŜΣ IŜƴǊȅΣέ ά.ŀȅƴŜ ϧ /ŀǊǘǿǊƛƎƘǘΣ ά.ŀȅƴŜΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦέ The 1810 Tax Assessment shows another occupant, 
John Cleaver, about whom little is known. Miller lists him as a shopkeeper, see Miller, Artisans and Merchants, s.v. 
ά/ƭŜŀǾŜǊΣ WƻƘƴΦέ John Cleaver paid $300 per year rent in 1804 per the estate account in Alexandria Will Books. 
263 MAP No. 1893, December 9, 1815. 

https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NF4X?i=216&cat=279393
https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3QS7-89P4-NF4X?i=216&cat=279393
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dwelling with a 2-foot parapet wall and a two-story brick kitchen behind it (Image 57).264 These were 

occupied by Thomas M. Davis. 

Thomas M. Davis was a Welsh immigrant who operated a grocery store, bottling business, and possibly a 

ǘŀǾŜǊƴ ŦǊƻƳ Ƙƛǎ ƭƻŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΦ He partnered with Isaac Entwisle, occupant of Parcel 56.3 in 

this study from 1804-1813, on a bottling operation until 1807 when άŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎέ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ǘƘŜƳ ǘƻ 

separate.265 From 1811-1819 Davis maintained a license to operate an ordinary, however its location is 

uncertain. He ran a grocery store and lived in the three-story brick house on this parcel, selling seed 

potatoes, pickled oysters, butter and a variety of food items (Image 58).266 In 1831, Davis sold his stock 

in trade, shop furniture and some household furniture at public auction. Four years later, his three-story 

brick dwelling and attached store house were offered for rent starting in July 1835. He moved to 

Gambier, Ohio where he died at the age of 70.267 

Meanwhile, the Harper heirs gradually lost possession of the parcel. In 1827, James & Eliza Harper and 

Joshua Harper ǳǎŜŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ нκо ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ IŀǊǇŜǊΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ ǘƻ ǎŜŎǳǊŜ ŀ ŘŜōǘΦ268 When they failed to repay, 

Thomas Vowell purchased it at public auction a year later for $5,000.269 Vowell immediately resold the 

property with wharfage and dockage rights yet subject to annuity to Mary Harper to Luther 

Chamberlain.270 Chamberlain then used the property to secure debt.271 Nancy Harper, married to Wells 

Andrews still owned a 1/3 share. Josiah H. Davis and Harris & Chamberlain occupied the parcel in 

1830.272 The 1839 insurance policy shows a three-story brick warehouse with 1 ½-story brick rear 

extension and 1 ½-story wood extension. It was occupied by McVeigh Bro. & Co.273 

McVeigh Brothers & Co., 1831-1864 
William N. McVeigh and James H. McVeigh, brothers, operated a grocery store on ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦΣ 

Parcels 56.1 and 56.2 of this study, since 1831 (see above). Their business was successful, leading 

William McVeigh to invest in numerous properties in Alexandria on which he built brick townhouses. 

They occupied the storehouse on this parcel until Wells & Nancy Harper Andrews sold her third part, 

inherited through her father and brothers, to William N. McVeigh for $1,666.66.274 The 1845 insurance 

policy described a new structure on the site of the old building taken down, 3 stories, walls of brick, door 

and window sills and case of stone, covered with tin, 40Ω by 113Ω ŀƴŘ occupied by McVeigh Bro. & Co.275 

McVeigh undertook a years-long campaign to join this parcel with Parcel 56.3 and Parcels 56.1 and 56.2 

ό±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦύΦ Lǘ ƛǎ ǳƴƪƴƻǿƴ ƛŦ ƘŜ ǎŜǘ ŀōƻǳǘ ǘƘƛǎ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴŀƭƭȅ ƻǊ ƛŦ ǘƘƛƴƎǎ ǎƛƳǇƭȅ ǿƻǊƪŜŘ ƻǳǘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ 

favor, but in 1852 James Chamberlain sold his 2/3 share of Parcel 56.4 (inherited from Luther 

 
264 MAP No. 4985, March 31, 1823. 
265 LǎŀŀŎ 9ƴǘǿƛǎƭŜ ŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ aΦ 5ŀǾƛǎΣ άbƻǘƛŎŜ ƛǎ ƘŜǊŜōȅ ƎƛǾŜƴΣέ Alexandria Daily Advertiser, August 14, 1804, 
GenealogyBank. 
266 Miller, Artisans and MerchantsΣ ǎΦǾΦ ά5ŀǾƛǎΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ aΦέ 
267 ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ aΦ 5ŀǾƛǎΣ ά.ȅ William D. McNutt,έ Alexandria Gazette, May 5, 1831; ά²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ bΦ aŎ±ŜƛƎƘΣ άCƻǊ wŜƴǘΣέ 
Alexandria Gazette, September 21, 1835; ά5ƛŜŘΣέ Alexandria Gazette, September 2, 1842, GenealogyBank. 
268 ADB Q2:298, June 18, 1827. 
269 ADB R2:102, July 22, 1828. 
270 ADB R2:99, July 23, 1828. 
271 ADB R2:96, July 23, 1828. 
272 1830 Property Tax Assessment, Alexandria, Virginia, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
273 MAP No. 11059, June 24, 1839. 
274 ADB C3:355, February 23, 1843,. 
275 MAP No. 11793, August 28, 1848. 
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Chamberlain) to William N. McVeigh for five thousand dollars.276 McVeigh bought Parcel 56.3 in 1853 

and ±ƻǿŜƭƭΩǎ ²ƘŀǊŦ in 1854 after the devastating fire ruined the buildings on that lot (see above).The 

1853 Insurance policy covered a three-story brick storehouse occupied by McVeigh & Chamberlain and 

W.A. Harper & Co.277 The policy renewed in 1860 with occupants J. H. McVeigh & Son and C. A. Baldwin 

& Co.278 

 
276 ADB N3:147, March 8, 1852. 
277 MAP No. 17692, July 7, 1853. 
278 MAP No. 21221, 1860. 
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Image 20. Thomas Irwin, Jacob Eichholtz, attr., c. 1825. GadsbyΩǎ ¢ŀǾŜǊƴ Museum Collection. 
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Image 21. Elizabeth Janney Irwin, Jacob Eichholtz, attr., c. 1825. GadsbyΩǎ ¢ŀǾŜǊƴ Museum Collection. 
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Image 22. The south side of King Street as it intersects with Union Street. Showing the owners of parcels in 1794. 
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Image 23. Schooner Hope, Bill of Lading, March 5, 1801. Irwin Family Papers Collection, Gadsby's Tavern Museum. 
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Image 24. Alexandria Daily Advertiser, November 13, 1804. GenealogyBank. 
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Image 25. tΦ DΦ aŀǊǎǘŜƭƭŜǊΣ άtǳōƭƛŎ {ŀƭŜΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 5ŀƛƭȅ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ !ǇǊƛƭ нлΣ мулуΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 26. Measured drawing of the Irwin warehouse complex as it appeared on September 30, 1844. Plat A from Arlington 
Chancery, Deposition of William Yeaton, George O. Dixion ETC v William H. Irwin, 1850-003. 
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Image 27. {ǘƻƴŜΣ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ WŀƳŜǎΦ ά/ƘŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IŜŀŘ ƻŦ bŀǾƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ tƻǘƻƳŀŎ wƛǾŜǊ {ƘŜǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ wƻǳǘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 
/ŀƴŀƭΥ aŀŘŜ ƛƴ tǳǊǎǳŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ŀ wŜǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ƭŜȄΩŀ /ŀƴŀƭ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ hŎǘΦ муоуΦέ LƳŀƎŜΦ ²ŀǎƘƛƴƎǘƻƴΣ 5Φ/ΦΥ ¦ƴƛǘŜŘ {ǘŀǘŜǎ 

Senate, 1838. https://www.loc.gov/item/89696869/. Detail. 

https://www.loc.gov/item/89696869/
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Image 28. Arlington County (Va.) Chancery Causes (Arlington Chancery), 1790-1927. George O. Dixion and John A. Dixion vs. 
William H. Irwin, 1850-003. Local Government Records Collection, Arlington County Court Records. The Library of Virginia, 

Richmond, Virginia. Detail. 
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Image 29. Mutual Assurance Society Policy (MAP) No. 538, August 16, 1805, Mutual Assurance Society Papers, Library of 
Virginia, on file at Alexandria Archaeology. 
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Image 30. ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ WΦ IŀƭƭΣ άChw {![9Σέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 5ŀƛƭȅ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ мпΣ мулмΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 31. WƻƴŀǘƘŀƴ {ǿƛŦǘΣ ά¢h w9b¢Σέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 5ŀƛƭȅ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ /ƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ ϧ tƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ сΣ мумлΣ GenealogyBank. 

 



74 
 

 

Image 32. Daniel McDougal, "SAIL MAKING," Alexandria Herald, July 4, 1811, GenealogyBank. 
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Image 33. John Janney & Co.Σ άaƻƭŀǎǎŜǎΣ {ǳƎŀǊ ϧŎΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ DŀȊŜǘǘŜ ϧ 5ŀƛƭȅ !ŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜǊΣ Wǳƭȅ мпΣ мумтΣ GenealogyBank. 
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Image 34. tƘƛƴŜŀǎ WŀƴƴŜȅΣ άCƻǊ DƻǘǘŜƴōǳǊƎΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ 5ŀƛƭȅ DŀȊŜǘǘŜΣ /ƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ ϧ tƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭΣ aŀǊŎƘ ммΣ мулфΣ 
GenealogyBank. 
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Image 35. άCLw9ΦΣέ !ƭŜȄŀƴŘǊƛŀ IŜǊŀƭŘΣ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нтΣ мумфΣ GenealogyBank. 




























































































































